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Wednesday, June 19, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning.  Good morning, everyone.  Welcome to the technical conference in EB file number EB-2018-0219, which is an IRM application by PUC Distribution and an ICM application.  The application was a combined IRM-ICM application.

In Procedural Order No. 2, the OEB decided to bifurcate the IRM and ICM portions of the application.  The IRM portion was dealt with by a written hearing.  So this technical conference is in respect of the ICM application only, as provided for in the OEB's Procedural Order No. 3.

So can we start with -- sorry, my name is Ljuba Djurdjevic.  I am counsel for OEB staff, and with me on behalf of staff are Dan Gapic, Georgette Vlahos, and our external advisor, who I will ask to introduce himself.

MR. BAX:  Archie Bax.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So let's start with Mr. Vellone, the applicant.
Appearances:


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning.  My name is John Vellone, counsel for the applicant, PUC Distribution, and on my left is my associate, Flora Ho.  Flora is going to be attempting to take us through the electronic record on the screens to hopefully speed things up over the next two days.

Seated behind me is Kelly McLellan and Terry Greco, providing support on the application, and maybe I will let the witnesses introduce themselves, starting with Mr. Stefano.

MR. STEFANO:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Claudio Stefano.  I am the VP of operations and engineering at PUC Distribution.  My role is to address any questions as they pertain to the interrelationship between the SSG project and the DSP and primarily from a technical perspective.

MR. BELL:  Good morning, my name is Kevin Bell, VP, business development.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just so you know, you are on the same microphones at the desks.

MR. BELL:  I think it is on, correct?

MS. GIRVAN:  Just get a little closer.

MR. BELL:  Sorry.  Good morning, my name is Kevin Bell, VP of business development.  I basically have the project lead on the project.

MR. BREWER:  Rob Brewer, president and CEO of PUC Distribution and overall responsibility for the application.

MR. FAUGHT:  Good morning, my name is Mark Faught.  I'm the director of finance with PUC Distribution.  I manage the accounting functions of the company, and as well have direct oversight of the regulatory aspects, and so I am here to provide any clarification required from that aspect.

MR. BELSITO:  Good morning, I am Andrew Belsito, the rates and regulatory affairs officer at PUC Distribution, and over the next couple of days I will be dealing with any questions related to the regulatory side of the project.
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MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just go around, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, Shelley Grice, representing --


MS. GIRVAN:  I turned you off.

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice, representing Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, thank you, everyone.

So before we discuss the order of questioning, are there any preliminary matters we need to address?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. VELLONE:  The applicant has one.  In the course of reviewing the interrogatory responses, we found a couple of corrections.  We would probably get the witness to walk you through that now, and we will hand it out.  Mr. Belsito.

MR. BELSITO:  As you will see in a moment once Flora hands out the corrections, you will notice that there is two corrections to the IR responses.  The first correction is to Staff question -- Staff 31.

If you turn to page 6 of the handout --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Should we mark this as an exhibit, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  Sure, why don't we let the witness walk --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  -- through the actual corrections and then we will mark it right at the end.

MR. BELSITO:  Page 6 of the handout, specifically lines 10 to 16, you will notice that there is Appendix 8 that we submitted with the IR responses.  That Appendix 8 was not filed in its entirety.  We filed the final shareholder approval resolution, but we did not file the PowerPoint presentation presented to council.

You will notice that this is on the back of the handout, titled "Sault Smart Grid, Sault Ste. Marie City Council, July 9th, 2018", so the correction to the originally submitted IR is this PowerPoint presentation attached to the Appendix 8.

The second correction for the IR submission is for question CCC 16.  You will notice that in the original submission, Appendix 2-AA was not filed in its entirety.  Only one page of the capital assets chart was filed.  We did not file the total amounts for the years 2013 Board-approved to 2018 test year.  You will notice in this handout that we now have the Appendix 2-AA in its entirety with the totals at the bottom.

MR. VELLONE:  I think we can get that marked as an exhibit, and then if folks have questions, they can ask the witnesses.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So this will be Exhibit KTC1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KTC1.1:  CORRECTIONS TO IR RESPONSES.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Any other preliminary matters?  No?  Okay.  So Staff has circulated a suggested order of questioning and asked parties for an estimation of time, and there seems to be general agreement that OEB staff will go first, followed by SEC, and then VECC -- or CCC and then VECC.  Okay.  One of those two.  Okay.

And so we will start with OEB staff, and I am going to turn it over to our external expert.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before you do that, can we get time estimates?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  So OEB staff, we're looking at about an hour and a half on questions that Staff will be asking.

Archie, what is your estimate?

MR. BAX:  Probably around an hour.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So two-and-a-half hours for staff, possibly three, again depending on, you know, what we have by way of undertakings or explanations or other details, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  SEC expects to be at least four hours.  And maybe we could get estimates from CCC and VECC as well?

MS. GIRVAN:  I am not sure by the end what will be left, but I would say I've got now sort of half an hour.

MS. GRICE:  And I have 45 minutes, an estimated 45 minutes.

MR. VELLONE:  So we are going into tomorrow for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  You never know.

[Laughter]

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  So we will start with OEB staff on behalf of staff, Archie.
Examination by Mr. Bax:

MR. BAX:  Okay.  Good morning.  This is a question referencing Staff 28 and the EB-2018-0219 and the ICM application, pages 22 to 27.

So by way of a preamble, PUC Distribution presents three distinct components for the scope of the project, VVM, DA, and AMI integration.

We would like to clarify a few things.  In PUC's response, Staff 48B, staff's impression is that the AMI integration, VVM, and DA components are interrelated and cannot be separated.  Staff's understanding of the three components is as follows.  Please confirm whether or not we are correct in our understanding of the project.

For DA, given the systems you have now, namely surveillance SCADA and CIS, if you were to implement DA at a high level, you would need a distribution system topology for which you plan to use sign software and have automated switching devices that communicate with the SCADA system, typically a 900 megahertz radio system, for cost savings on installation and software to take the data captured about the switch status and the passage of fault current to calculate how the maximum number of customers can be restored to power.

AMI integration would be to provide the PUC CSR with data to respond to calls, and also the ability to have the systems put information on the internet to provide the customers with information about what areas are out of power and estimates of when the power will be restored.

To implement this, you would need appropriate integrated project management, engineering, planning, scheduling, construction and commissioning specific to this project implementation.  This can be done as a stand-alone implementation.

Is this understanding correct?

MR. VELLONE:  So that was a very long preamble to the question, and I am just not sure -- unless it is an obvious yes.  Is there a way to break this into chunks?

Like there is just a lot of stuff in your assumption to ask the witnesses to confirm if it is correct.  There is a lot in there.  I am just trying to figure out, like --maybe it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't follow it either, John.

MR. BAX:  The question deals with, in order to implement distribution automation, there are certain things that need to be included with a distribution automation project.

I have listed those in this question, and I am asking for confirmation that those components can be discrete, in terms of a distribution automation only implementation, and that that can be done without the other components.

MR. VELLONE:  So first, did you guys hear all of the components that he listed?

MR. BELL:  If you could just list the components without...

MR. BAX:  Sure.  What you would need -- you currently have a SCADA system and a CIS system.  If you are going to implement distribution automation, then you would need a distribution system topology, which is what are the interconnections.

You would have to install automated devices, and communicate between those automated devices and SCADA.

You would have to -- you would typically use a 900 megahertz, or some similar radio system for that communication on the basis of economics.

And you would need software, typically within your surveillance system, in order to take the information about the passage of fault current and the status of switches to be able to calculate how you could restore power to the maximum number of customers.

And then, in order to implement that, you would need project management, engineering, planning, scheduling, construction and commissioning specifically for that project, and that that can be done --


MR. VELLONE:  I will hit that question in a second.  I want to get the first part.  Are you in general agreement with that description that Mr. Bax just provided?

MR. STEFANO:  I wish to confirm that that is correct.  The methodology that you described in terms of the interrelationship of the main components of the system is in accordance with how you've described it, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are there any aspects that he mentioned that you are doing differently?  Like not a 900 watt -- or sorry, the communication system.  Are you doing it differently, or is everything as...


MR. STEFANO:  The detailed engineering hasn't been completed yet.  It only has been completed at the 30 percent engineering level.  But at the 30 percent engineering level, we expect it to be a 900 megahertz system.  But that needs to be confirmed during the detailed engineering.

MR. VELLONE:  Now your second question.

MR. BAX:  The second question is, that description, that can be done as a stand-alone implementation?  In other words the other components, VVM and so on, are not necessary in order to implement that distribution automation?

MR. STEFANO:  Just to confirm, a DA project can technically be accomplished in accordance with how you've described it.

It's my understanding that there is a separate module in the surveillance system to be able to perform DA, but it is certainly not how we prepared the overall scope of this project.  It's as an integrated overall project and has been costed accordingly.

MR. BAX:  Appreciate that.  But this was strictly trying to address the aspect of it can be done.  You may elect to do something different, but it can be done that way?

MR. STEFANO:  It's my understanding that there is a separate module available in surface to be able to accomplish it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow up question on that?  Does that boil down to you can do DA without VVM?  Is that what I understood you to say?

MR. STEFANO:  I believe that is the case, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you did that, you wouldn't get the NRCan money, is that right?

MR. BREWER:  It wasn't presented to NRCan as a stand-alone DA project.  So we don't -- we can't tell you what we would or wouldn't get based on NRCan, but they fund 25 percent.  So if the scope went to a quarter of what it currently is, then the funding from NRCan would be associated with that.

When we look at the overall project for this, the VVO was something that we were using to get a net benefit to our customers, in terms of savings, energy savings.

And so doing the two together, the savings from the VVO allowed us to do a lot more of the DA from a cost perspective where we weren't impacting the customer rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The DA only gives you reliability benefits.  It doesn't give you reduced consumption benefits.

MR. BREWER:  Well, so there is some relation with respect to the systems and the feedback that allows us to optimize the VVO, and that is done from a number of different devices.  But at the core of it, you're correct. But there is a slight benefit to the VVO to have them together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your pricing of the project, would it be different for DA?  Like this Staff 28 says DA is $14.66 million.  But would that pricing be different if you weren't doing the VVM?

MR. BREWER:  So the prices that we put together aren't stand-alone prices.  They're the components of the entire project.  So you are correct, where if we just took one, then the pricing that we've shown is based on the other things happening as well.  So it would certainly increase if we just did one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Sorry.

MR. BAX:  The next portion of my question in this matter is related to VVM or VVO, it's -- both are used throughout here, and the formulation is similar to what it was for distribution automation.

So given the systems that you have, namely surveillance SCADA, CIS, and AMR and smart meters, if you were to implement VVM at a high level, you would need a distribution topology, that is the interconnections, and additional component information to allow a load flow calculation to be performed, for which you plan to use sign software, and install power factor correction devices and controlled switches operable through your SCADA system, as well as voltage control devices also operable through the SCADA system through land lines or using 900 megahertz radio.

In addition, the smart meters need to send voltage information at regular intervals through the AMR system, and this information needs to be passed on to surveillance software module that manages VVM.

This software module calculates the control commands required to bring the voltage up or down, and passes these commands to the SCADA system and, using its communication schemes, causes the remote devices to operate to move the voltage up or down as required.

There is no apparent need to pass this to the CIS system, and to implement this, you would need appropriate project -- integrated project management, engineering, planning, scheduling, construction, and commissioning specific for this project implementation, and this also can be done as a stand-alone implementation.

MR. STEFANO:  From a technical perspective your description of how the VVO system would operate is consistent with my understanding as well.  It is certainly subject to Mr. Brewer's comments with respect to costing of the overall project and also from a NRCan perspective.

MR. BAX:  And what I am focusing on here is the components can technically be implemented.  The economic question is not being addressed here, which I understand that you are making an economic decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask another follow-up question?  I'm sorry, I have a tendency to do this.

There are some common elements in those two separate hypothetical projects, right?  So if you did one, then five years later did the other, you would already have some of the components there for that second one, right?  If you did DA and then five years later did VVM, some of the things in the VVM project would not have to be done because they had already been done.

MR. BREWER:  And the classic example would be the communication system, right, but at the same time some of the other things mentioned you would have to duplicate, so project management, commissioning, engineering work, a lot of that can -- there could be some significant savings by doing the two at the same time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You would lose the economies of scale.

MR. BREWER:  You would lose not just the economies of scale, but the fact that there is similar stuff being done on the construction side on the same poles, so -- and the same substations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. BAX:  And then the third portion of this is related to the AMI integration, and again it is a similar construct.

Given the systems that you have now, namely surveillance data, CIS, AMR, and smart meters, with the addition of DA, the customer-service function would be enhanced by making the public more aware of what is happening to the power system and what they are experiencing.  This can only be done to the extent that the other applications, such as DA, are implemented.

A portion of the integration also creates and stores reports for various components of the surveillance system and makes them available.  Integration of AMR and the surveillance system is required in order to be able to gather voltage data at selected points on the power system and to -- and to be able to implement VVM.  This is important, because VVM is the application that generates real dollar benefits for most of the customers.

Only a small part, the reporting and storing of data of the AMI integration, can be done without DA or VVM.  To implement this restricted portion, to implement this you would need appropriate project -- integrated project management, engineering, scheduling, planning, construction, and commissioning specific to this project implementation.

This can be done as a stand-alone implementation but, as other components of DA and VVM are implemented as well, this task grows in size.

So in short, you have -- without DA and VVM you have a very small aspect of integration, which is basically the reporting function.  And as you add DA and VVM, that integration project grows in size and complexity.

MR. STEFANO:  I'm not sure -- I heard a statement there.  I am not sure I am clear on what the question is.

MR. BAX:  The question is, is this understanding correct?

MR. STEFANO:  The main components are certainly integral to the AMI system, DA and VVO.  So the real benefits are derived by the full integration of those two main components with the AMI system.

MR. BAX:  So the question was, the integration, the AMI integration -- without VVM and DA, that's a very small piece, which is the reporting is left.  Can that be done as a stand-alone?

MR. STEFANO:  I'm not certain that that would be case, whether it would be a stand-alone or not.  I would expect that, as you indicated, a small portion of it might be able to be stand-alone, but the real benefits are derived from the full integration of DA and VVO.

MR. BAX:  Correct, okay.

A different question now.  Referencing Staff 39, as well as Chapter 5, filing requirements, section 5.3.1b, the Leidos report on distribution automation, pages 7 and page 18.

In section 5.3 -- 5.3.1b of the Chapter 5 filing requirements, it is suggested that in the asset management process, the following data sets may be used to justify capital programs.  And I pulled out two bullets on that, first, historical period data on customer interruptions caused by equipment failure, and second, reliability-based worst performing feeder information and analysis.

In the Leidos report on the DA section, on DA, section 6a, PUC reliability data, the report indicates that Leidos did analysis of outage data by feeder with the assistance of PUC Distribution for 2008 to 2012, excluding 2011, for the feeders recommended in the Leidos study.

The question:  In deciding to expand the distribution automation implementation, does PUC have outage data by feeder for the feeders that were added as part of the expanded scope?  And if yes, can PUC Distribution please provide the outage data?

MR. STEFANO:  The outage data on a feeder basis for the incremental change from the Leidos report is not currently available.  It is not available on a feeder basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a follow-up on that.

You say in Staff 39 that you don't track interruptions by cause code.  And I don't understand that.  I thought all utilities were expected to do that.  And you certainly had some of that, because Leidos looked at it, right?

So can you help me understand why you would not have this information?

MR. BREWER:  Sorry, I am trying to help understand the question here.

MR. VELLONE:  Are you looking at Staff 39b or a?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, b.

MR. VELLONE:  B?  Can we just pull that up on the screen?  So it does not track interruptions by cause codes for individual feeders.  I think the response to part a gives you interruptions by cause code.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I thought Leidos -- Leidos looked at outages for individual feeders?  That is why I am asking the question.  So you must have had something.

MR. STEFANO:  Basically in order for Leidos to prepare the report there was an extensive amount of data evaluation in order to try to determine -- in order to determine specifically which feeders were affected and corresponding cause codes.

Currently, we certainly capture outage information from a cause-code perspective, but we don't correlate it to a feeder basis.  There would have to be an extensive amount of evaluation work done to try to correlate more recent outage history to cause code by feeder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, see, this is what I don't understand.  So in 2017 you had 470 interruptions.  You know what the cause codes were for each one.  All you need to do is look up which feeder it was, that you have that data, right?

So how long is it going to take somebody?  A day?  An hour?

MR. STEFANO:  We currently don't have a database to track cause codes by specific feeder.  So that would have to be analyzed and it would be an extensive effort.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a list of the interruptions, right?

MR. STEFANO:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So each of those interruptions has a cause code attached to it, right?

MR. STEFANO:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know which feeders they were?

MR. STEFANO:  We would have to co-relate each feeder.  The feeders could be potentially significantly in length and we'd have to attempt to correlate specific feeders with outage codes.

We don't have that readily available. It would have to be evaluated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It just doesn't sound like a lot of work.  I am going to ask you to provide an undertaking to provide it for 2017.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you, perhaps before we -- can you give a sense of the amount of work that would be involved?  If it is -- sorry.  Can you give a sense as to the amount of work that you think would be involved to gather this information?  And if it is not possible to do it, please clearly explain why that is the case.

MR. BELL:  I would like - to compile that data, they would have to go back to the archive files of the, essentially the paper record of the outage. There is no database that has the feeder on it.

The paper will have a street name or an address.  The exercise we went through to prepare the original data set, we basically went through that with the operators to help identify where they were with Leidos.

So we would have to reproduce that effort for 2017.  It is not a database effort.  It would be a paper search, pull out the outage sheet.  It is on Queen Street, 600.  Figure out what feeder that was.  It just isn't part of the database structure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't this information in your GIS?  You have a GIS, yes?

MR. BELL:  The --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have an address, your GIS would tell you --


MR. BELL:  That's how they would do it.  That would be the manual exercise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's 60 seconds, right?  Address, GIS says that is this feeder.  Isn't that right?

MR. VELLONE:  How long did it take to do for Leidos?

MR. STEFANO:  I wasn't directly involved, but if I were to estimate, we're probably talking a matter of weeks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking for the undertaking.  You can refuse.

MR. VELLONE:  Can someone help me with the probative value of this information?  If you had the outage information by feeder, what can we do with that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  And cause code, so we can see whether this is in fact a reliability benefit for the feeders you are going to be improving.

MR. VELLONE:  On a project that is currently scoped at a 30 percent design basis, right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hey, it is your application.  You have to provide the evidence supporting the claims you are making.  You are making a claim that you're going to have all of these reliability benefits.  Well, where is your data?  If you haven't done your homework, then the OEB is not going to give you approval.

MR. VELLONE:  So I think there is support for that question in -- one of the Navigant reports gave you reliability estimates.  Is that -- like they can bring you evidence on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Look, I have asked for the information.  You can refuse to provide it.

MR. VELLONE:  Weeks of effort?

MR. BAX:  I had a follow-up question...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let them answer whether they are going to do it or not.  I didn't hear the refusal yet.  It may come up in the oral hearing.

MR. VELLONE:  I don't think there is any probative value.  I'm going to say we're going to refuse.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Refusal?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Go ahead, thanks.

MR. BAX:  My follow up question on that was if you are not collecting this data, at the time of the outage where you are recording the address and various other data in order to be able to calculate the reliability figures, would it not be a simple matter to at that time also record which feeder it was connected to at the time that the interruption took place?

MR. STEFANO:  That is correct.  Unfortunately, we don't directly correlate addresses or specific locations of faults with a feeder currently on our database.

MR. BAX:  So my question is going forward, it appears that this information would be useful in guiding, and Chapter 5 already indicates that worst performing feeder analysis is one of the reasons that you can do capital work, that it seems like it is a relatively small amount of effort in order to capture that to be able to produce that kind of information.

I understand, going back historically, there's, you know, issues of how did the feeder configuration change.

But moving forward, that should be relatively easy information to capture.

MR. STEFANO:  You are correct, we would have to modify our database to include reference to the specific feeder that was impacted.

MR. BAX:  A further question on that, and the Leidos report further indicates that the west and north service territory feeders were the primary focus of DA, due to the relatively poor reliability performance of these feeders.

Upon consultation with PUC, the eastern section was added.  How many feeders does this represent?

MR. BREWER:  Where on the report are we?

MR. BAX:  This was the Leidos report.

MR. BREWER:  Which one?  The DA one?

MR. BAX:  DA, yes.

MR. BREWER:  Do you have a reference page?

MR. BAX:  Page 7, or page 18.

MR. BREWER:  Okay, page 18.

MR. VELLONE:  Is that the page showing up on the screen?

MR. BAX:  Yes, I believe it is just below the...

MR. BELL:  If you would turn back to page 7 of that report, the eastern feeders would be described as substations 19 and 21 on that list and, I guess, part of 12.  It looks like probably ten of those feeders, roughly, would be the --


MR. BAX:  The eastern portion?

MR. BELL:  Yes.  The difficulty is the feeders aren't necessarily east.  They sort of have a wider wandering direction, but approximately those stations, in terms of...

MR. BAX:  I was just trying to get to the reference in the report and, you know, the significance of -- there were two areas that Leidos had identified.  But through specific knowledge of your system, you knew that the reliability of another area was needed to be added, that it also had benefit.

MR. BELL:  These are the feeders that are sort of head to the more limits of the city.

MR. BAX:  So these are the rural feeders, more or less.  So what kind of load and what number of customers does that represent, approximately?

MR. BELL:  I'm not sure if I have an immediate reference to the load, but that same table that we referenced gives you an idea of the customer exposure for customer minutes of estimated reliability improvement.  That really is -- that was the ranking, the feeder ranking effort done.

Appendix 3 in that report has the DA conductor loading for the -- so it would be, again, 12, which is on page 29, and 19 and 21, which are on page 31.  The other three stations are sort of the western ones.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  So these are the -- okay.

And then on that same vein, another portion of the question would be:  What programs does PUC have in place to mitigate against interruptions, in particular equipment failures and tree contacts, specifically focused on these feeders with poor reliability performance?

MR. STEFANO:  With respect to the more rural feeders, we have currently in place reclosures, specifically three reclosures that are intended to minimize outages on our rural feeders, and in addition to that we have an extensive vegetation management program throughout our entire system, but certainly also focused on our rural areas, which are heavily treed.

MR. BAX:  Thank you.

A different question, different line of questioning.  The reference is Staff 45.

"PUC indicates that in evaluating the project scope, one important criteria was ensuring all customers received the benefits of VVM implementation.  Another principle used for project evaluation is prudence of investment.  In determining prudence, a marginal cost-benefit analysis can be used.  For this, the incremental cost of equipping one feeder for VVM can be compared to the benefit achieved for the lowest loaded feeder.  Please provide the incremental cost of installing VVM on one feeder and the annual benefits expected on the lowest loaded feeder at the proposed project completion, as well as the NPV of these benefits over 25 years."

MR. BREWER:  That's not current information that we have at this point.

MR. BAX:  But is that information that you could provide?

MR. BREWER:  So the challenge is, is that when we have the project costed, the project is costed based on the full project, it hasn't been costed based on an individual feeder.

So it would be very difficult for us to now go back and try to individually cost what adding or taking away one feeder would be for that.  So I think that is where the challenge is.

I think I understand that certainly on the lower benefit feeders, I think, which is where you're going, there is a cost evaluation to be done.  But I think from PUC's perspective and I think certainly from leadership of PUC's perspective, the thought was that it would be patently unfair for customers to all have to contribute to a system if they did not derive any potential benefit from the system.

So taking one of the feeders out and yet having rates that those folks are paying and yet not getting even a lower benefit, they're not getting any, would seem to be patently unfair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I follow up on that?  Did you do any sensitivity analysis on the scope of the project?  You have a certain scope.  Did you look and say, well, if we add this or subtract this, how does that affect the benefits?  And is it more or less cost-effective?  Did you do any of that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BREWER:  So there were differing scopes.  I think if you look at the Leidos design in its original scope prior to us taking it across the entire system, you can see sort of from the benefit that -- from the limited scope or from the reduced scope.  But we haven't done that full sensitivity analysis with respect to adding individual, because we don't have the costs to add the individual.

So it is hard to add and subtract feeders, because we don't have the cost of doing so with respect to the benefit that would be gained.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason you didn't do that is because you start with the premise that if everybody is paying for it, everybody has to benefit?

MR. BREWER:  Philosophically that is exactly where we're at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you do that with your other system capital spending?  Because I would have thought you don't.

MR. BREWER:  We don't.  But in the -- this was obviously a little bit of a different project for us with respect to PUC.  And the addition of the NRCan funding allowed us to get to a full scope at bill neutral in effect for the average customer.

And I think our perspective on it was, is that given that, that from a fairness perspective, that the approach we would take would be that we wouldn't leave feeders out where they would get no benefit and yet would have a cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good, thanks.

MR. BAX:  I actually had a very similar question to that, but a slight twist to it.  If the scope of VVM was reduced such that not all customers would receive the benefits of VVM, does PUC have a strategy for ensuring the equitable treatment of rates for all customers?

MR. BREWER:  So I don't know that it's to us to make that determination, because the way that the rates get established it ends up being that everybody pays for it.  And so if we reduce the scope, I don't know that there is an equitable way, unless we had a variation to the rates.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  Again, to a different aspect.  Reference is Staff 48 and Staff 26.

"The ICM application notes that the scope of VVM includes phase-balancing of feeders.  Question:  With the Phase 1mbalance instances and solutions identified in the Leidos report, has PUC taken any steps to correct these imbalances?"

MR. STEFANO:  To date, we have not acted on the imbalances as referenced in the Leidos report unless there's been a defined need from a voltage standard perspective, but otherwise we have not acted on it.

MR. BAX:  The follow-up on that would be, this was something that in the Leidos report was an improvement to your system and your voltage continuity throughout your system.

So given that you have this information, why is it that you would not have acted on this at this point?

MR. STEFANO:  There has been, we basically prioritize our capital needs and our system needs, and asset condition is a primary driver of our infrastructure renewal.

And with respect to rebalancing, we certainly do so in the event there is a new customer connection.  We will look at connecting customers in order to balance phasing and loading.  But unless it is creating a specific upset condition, in terms of CSA voltage limits, we have not acted on it.

MR. BAX:  Thank you.  So if the SSG project does not proceed, will PUC still complete the phase rebalancing specified in the report, the Leidos report?

MR. STEFANO:  We haven't finalized a decision on that, so that remains to be determined.

MR. BAX:  A different question and a different focus.  Reference Staff 49, the PUC DSP figures 17 and 18.  In looking at the DSP figures 17 and 18, the rate of restricted wire conversion has been slow in the three-phase portion and much faster in the single-phase portion.

A rough calculation leads to an average of about 16 spans per year for three-phase, and a hundred spans per year for single-phase.

Given that these are estimates, there appear to be some 266 spans of three-phase and 20,000 spans of single-phase restricted conductor, based on a 30-meter ruling span.

It would seem that the three-phase restricted wire would be able to be corrected more quickly within the DSP plan than seems to be the case.

So the first question then is:  Are any of the three-phase restricted conductors fused?  Are they laterals?

MR. STEFANO:  Can you reference a page number from the DSP, please?

MR. BAX:  Figures 17 and 18.  What you have is a certain number of feet of restricted conductor, and what I've done is I have converted that to so many spans, based on a 30-metre ruling span.

MR. STEFANO:  If I understand your question -- can you rephrase your question, please?

MR. BAX:  Yes.  The question is: are any of the three-phase restricted conductors fused?

MR. STEFANO:  I would have to confirm on our system operating diagrams, but I would expect that there would be -- there would be fuses on some of it, but that would have to be confirmed.

MR. BAX:  The next question.  Are any of the three-phase restricted conductors not fused and part of a backup to another feeder, or part of a feeder?

MR. STEFANO:  I would have it review the system operating diagrams to be able to provide you with a definitive answer on that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Let's make that our first undertaking, JTC1.1.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It seems like it was a two part question, or sort of two questions all part of one?  Do we need to clarify it on the record?  Or are you good -- are the witnesses clear on what they have undertaken to do?

MR. STEFANO:  No, I am not clear.  I would prefer if you would restate that, please.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  Are any of the three-phase restricted conductors not fused and part of a backup to another feeder, or part of a feeder?  In other words, does your restricted wire form part of your loop for backing up other feeders?

And the reason for that is my understanding is some of the restricted wire is part of the SSG project.  So presumably it is because of backup.

MR. STEFANO:  If I could just add some information?  If I could just add some information with respect to your question?

If we look at the Leidos report, specifically the DA portion of it and reference appendix 2, the 30 percent engineering design certainly did evaluate conductor loading.  And if you look at appendix 3, it is on a per feeder basis.

If there were any anomalies from a maximum conductor loading perspective and/or voltage perspective, those were delineated as part of the feeders that were evaluated as part of the 30 percent engineering scope.

Does that provide an answer to your question?

MR. BAX:  Okay.  What you're saying is that from the Leidos report, there was restricted wire.

MR. STEFANO:  From a load transfer perspective, Leidos did look at, in the event there was a load transfer from one circuit to another, whether there would be a minimum voltage that -- sorry, a minimum conductor loading issue when it is transferred from one circuit to the other.

So they would have evaluated each circuit, irrespective of the type of conductor that was on the circuit that was going to be transferred to.

MR. BAX:  Okay.

MR. STEFANO:  That was premised on the scope that Leidos did at that particular juncture.  Does that answer your question?

MR. BAX:  Yes, that answers that question.

MR. VELLONE:  So we are going to strike the undertaking, is that right?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, okay.

MR. BAX:  Then there is a follow-up question.  Since there is conductor that is slated for replacement within the SSG project, how does PUC Distribution decide which restricted three-phase conductor to replace within the SSG project, and which restricted three-phase conductor to replace per the DSP capital program?

MR. STEFANO:  Once the detailed engineering is completed on the SSG project, we would certainly ensure that the capital plans associated with the restricted wire replacement, there would be no overlap between replacing restricted conductor between the SSG project and part of our asset management program.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  Dealing -- the next question is reference Staff 50.  PUC confirmed in its response to Staff 50 that costs for substation upgrades have not been included in the SSG scope.

Has PUC considered moving other parts of the project from the ICM to the DSP?

MR. STEFANO:  Okay.  I wish to confirm that there is no overlap between the planned capital asset replacement that are included as part of the DSP in relation to the SSG project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can I ask a follow up question on that?  You originally had a bunch of substation work in the project and you took it out, right?

MR. BREWER:  The original scope included replacing a number of substations, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you still have to do the substation work?

MR. BREWER:  We still plan to do the substation work, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding that the various reports you've got and the agreements say that if you don't do the substation work, you don't get the benefits.  Is that right?

MR. BREWER:  Can you point me to where you are finding that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just asking whether that is true.  If it's not true, you can tell me.

MR. BREWER:  I don't know if it's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know if it is true?

MR. BREWER:  If you're referring to something that is in there, then point me to it.  I have not memorized every agreement, and every word in it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking whether it's true that it's in the agreements.  I'm asking whether it's true that if you don't do the substation work, you don't get the benefits.  Is that right, or not?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BREWER:  The benefits aren't related to the substation work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why was the substation work in the project in the first place?

MR. BREWER:  The original proposal that we had was to include all of the substations because they are coming due. I think there was four that were scheduled for replacement and four that were scheduled for some significant upgrade.  They weren't something that was critical to the project moving forward to getting the benefits that we were aiming to get out of this project.

So we have smoothed it, and those -- we currently have a substation replacement scheduled about every three years going forward, so we were able to put them on a different schedule in order to try to smooth the rates.


MR. VELLONE:  Can I follow up?  I think I know what you are asking, and I have a follow-up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Can you explain the workaround that you applied, given that you are not doing the substation?


MR. BREWER:  Sure.


MR. BELL:  So in the original concept for the project we included the substations primarily on the basis that there were a number of transformers that are 40-plus years old.  The condition assessment of our station equipment and the asset management is of concern.  So we considered that as a potential solution from a design perspective, to look at a load tap changer transformer.


The cost of that rehabilitation and that work was just viewed as too large.  So we changed our view of the voltage control to a feeder-installed regulator, rather than replacing the main power transformer.


In the detailed design phase that is coming up, there will be an evaluation of the potential or the equal, can we do the solution at an equivalent cost?  Some of our underground substations will be space-challenged, and the cost of implementing feeder regulators versus replacing the power transformer might be one of the solutions, but generally the intent now is we know we can regulate the feeders to deliver the voltage benefit.


There might be a better technical design solution with detailed design for each specific site.  But we will determine that as we get to it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you saying that at some of the sites you won't be able to use feeder voltage control because of space limitations and things like that?  And you will have to go to the --


MR. BELL:  They just become more technically challenging.  I think you can always achieve it.  It's going to be a cost-benefit decision on how you make it work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you might have to in some cases do the substation work?


MR. BELL:  It might be more economic.  Like, it's...


MR. SHEPHERD:  And at this point you don't know?


MR. BELL:  Not at that level of detail.


MS. GIRVAN:  I just had a follow-up question.  Can you hear me?


So you keep going back to, you've only got 30 percent of the design done.  So you've got another 70 percent of detailed design.  And it sounds like you haven't figured out some of these -- some of the ways that you are going to go.


And I am just curious as, how can you be confident in terms of the amount of money you are asking for in light of the fact that 70 percent of the detailed design isn't completed?


MR. BREWER:  So that -- the answer is that it is a fixed-price contract that we have with respect to the total price of the benefit, of getting the benefit, achieving the benefit is a certain amount, fixed price.


There will be things in the detailed design where if there's a certain cost of doing something outside the substation that is equivalent to doing a transformer changeout in the substation then we may actually do a substitution.


There may be other -- various other things that we look at with respect to the detail, but we -- with the 30 percent we were able to get a fixed price from the developer and from the design build contract.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so, and that is Black & Veatch, right?  Black & Veatch?


MR. BREWER:  Black & Veatch is the EPC contractor, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they said -- tell me whether I have got this roughly right -- they will do it for that price, but they will only do as much work as they can do for that price, and if it turns out that there are cost overruns they will just do less work.  Right?


MR. BREWER:  I don't know that I would agree with the characterization of they just do less work.  I think it's going to be a, is there more benefit in doing X and doing less benefit or less work over here and doing a balance.


But I think the benefit is defined with respect to complete voltage optimization across the system.  The DA, there will probably be some push and pull based on what makes the most sense in certain areas when you get into the detailed design.  But with respect to the financial benefit to the customer, to the ratepayer, that will come from the voltage optimization, and that will be complete across the system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're saying that the deal with Black & Veatch is that they have to deliver that, right?  They have to deliver full voltage optimization across the system no matter how much it actually costs them.  Is that what you're saying?


MR. BREWER:  So our deal is with the developer, it's not Black & Veatch.  So our deal with the developer is that for the fixed price they will deliver voltage optimization across the system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, but the developer has no money, so that doesn't help you at all.  It is only Black & Veatch that has the expertise and the money.  So I am asking you from the people who are going to actually do the work and have the flow-through obligations to PUC, is there some guarantee that they're going to actually deliver the result?


MR. BREWER:  So the agreement from PUC is to the SSG project, which is the developer, in combination with the financial partner that they have, which is where the money is, and Black & Veatch's EPC contract with SSG would have the flow-through, we would assume, but we don't see that, but we would assume it would have the same flow-through as with respect to the deliverables that the developer is indicating that they're delivering to PUC.


Our understanding is that the voltage optimization from the contract we have with the developer would be across the system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just looking at -- sorry, I didn't mean to get into this yet, but since we are on it, let's see if I can find it quickly.


You have to have -- under the agreements -- sorry, under the project agreement, you are supposed to have a direct agreement with Black & Veatch, right?  I am just looking for the reference in the definitions.


MR. BREWER:  Let me know when you find the reference, because that is not my understanding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Never mind.  I will go through this later.  Go ahead.


MR. BAX:  Okay.  The follow-up is, in Appendix K there is $120,000 listed for "DS with new LTCs incremental."  How did PUC determine how much capital is considered incremental?  That is in your estimate.


MR. BELL:  So Appendix K, and which page of Appendix K?


MR. BAX:  In your table with the various costs, one of the cost listings is -- 120,000 is the cost of DS with new LTCs incremental.


MR. BELL:  Okay, yes, I found it now.  In terms of the -- I think it was a -- where am I here?  Yes.  So DS, two times the 60,000.  So incremental estimate from the power transformer spec, adding the LTC.  The reference for the 60,000, I don't know if I can find that.  But that was really the intent.  It was the incremental cost of speccing it with an LTC.


MR. BAX:  So that is an incremental cost that you calculated based on getting some prices?


MR. BELL:  I think it was based on the last DS we had done in 2010, 2011 -- 2013.


MR. BAX:  Okay.  But it is a number that PUC generated?


MR. BELL:  Correct.


MR. BAX:  Okay.  Then the follow-up question was:

"How does this reconcile with page 4 of the smart grid cost estimate 2019 also in Appendix K, where the cost of LTCs per unit is $525,000?"

MR. BELL:  We're really looking at the 525 and less the 60,000, I guess, would be the price of the power transformer.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can I interject for a second, a follow-up?  So you have the $34 million that we just saw on that Appendix K, and that is your fixed price, is that correct?

MR. BELL:  The appendix K is the total cost of the ICM application.  The fixed price contract is a portion of that, which was broken out in an IR 32.8.

MS. GIRVAN:  So how did you arrive at the 34 million, and who did the work to derive the 34 million?

MR. BELL:  PUC has developed this line estimate, if that is what you mean.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. BELL:  It was done by PUC.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it was done before or after you signed the fixed price contract?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BELL:  So I mean in negotiations with the developer, the fixed price amount was really where the focus was, so we had that number.

To develop this table of detail, it was built up from the component prices of the work done by Navigant in -- work done by Leidos, sorry, and reviewed by Navigant in their review of the cost elements of the project.

The adjustments, I think, are basically described in Appendix K, that PUC went through of the unit costs, based on the inflation difference from the time of the estimates in 2014 to current.

The quantities were basically adjusted to the revised scope, and primarily this was our attempt to make sure that we had a quality estimate.  So it was our validation of the work of both Navigant and Leidos that we had a project estimate that we understood and supported.

The level of detail also was needed for the ICM application, because we needed to try and allocate out to the fixed asset categories and do the rate process.  But we were working from a global price.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BAX:  So let me ask a question, and I think I have a little better understanding of what has happened along the way here.

My question was:  How much of this data in Appendix K is used to directly estimate the current project cost?

What I was trying to get at with this question was, in terms of the fixed price, but what you're telling me is the fixed price is separate from this information, and this is PUC's price for the purpose of bringing through the regulatory process, et cetera, because you just have one global number that has been negotiated for the whole project.  Is that correct?

MR. BELL:  You're correct that we started with the global project number.  We saw the need to basically validate that number, and this was basically our effort to validate and we used the work done by Navigant to help validate the component prices.  And we tried to make sure that basically the price we were given made sense.

MS. GIRVAN:  Was this detail developed after you signed the contract?

MR. BELL:  The contract has not been signed yet.  It is still in the final draft stage.

MS. GIRVAN:  The fixed price contract?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  A different question, different focus, and this refers is Staff 58 and Navigant report number 2.  PUC seeks to be fair to all the customers in providing the benefits of VVM and DA.  This has a point in the case of VVM because if your supply feeder is not controlled, then you will not see a consumption reduction and no reduced bill.  But in the case of distribution automation, it is not the case.  Different parts of the power system experience outage rates due to many factors.

In each case, distribution automation will help reduce the number of customers affected by outages, but customers undergoing sustained outages will not likely experience any improvements.  Rural areas will still have longer outages than urban areas in general.  So the benefits from DA will still not provide equality and outage experience between rural and urban areas.

Further, with the rural areas being sparsely populated, the impact on system reliability will be small compared with the impact of the more populated urban area.  So the urban areas are the chief beneficiary of the DA application.  This does not solve the outage experience inequality.

Staff 45 speaks to prudency of investments with regard to VVM.  A similar case can be made for prudency of DA deployment.

And in Staff 45, it reads in part:
"With any implementation, there are diminishing returns.  If the feeders are listed in order of benefit from largest to smallest, then at some point it becomes uneconomical to try to achieve the last amount of benefit."


In the application, IRM-ICM part 2, appendix E, Navigant report number 2, page 9, it states:
"The overall system design architecture and system components are comparable with DA and VVM systems that Navigant has reviewed or analyzed throughout the US and Canada."


We note the proposed feeder coverage for DA and VVM, 84 and 68 percent, is higher than many other systems Navigant has encountered.

We understand that one of PUC's goals was to ensure that the benefits of the system were shared across the community to the extent possible.  This coverage should maximize the total amount of benefits that can be achieved by DA and VVM on PUC's distribution system, though it may not represent the optimal economic level of VVM and DA.

From the original Leidos studies and the Navigant reviews, this concept was evident and the original proposal was for less than 100 percent coverage for each of DA and VVM.

How did PUC determine its revised scope, namely 100 percent coverage for each of distribution, automation and VVM is prudent, even with the possibility of diminishing returns?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BREWER:  So I think there are a few different components there, and I will try to wade in and answer what I think you are asking, and just follow up afterwards if I haven't answered it.

MR. BAX:  Sure.

MR. BREWER:  About 90 percent of our system is looped.  Certainly in rural areas, there is more of a challenge with respect to DA, especially on radial feeds.  But we don't have --  about 90 percent of it is looped, so only about 10 percent is radial.

So I think that answers one question in terms of what our goal was.  There's about 10 percent that would be radial that wouldn't get a lot of DA benefit.  We agree with that.

With respect to the fairness, the cost the diminishing returns, this is primarily where, prior to the NRCan announcement, to the NRCan funding, this was where we had trouble with moving forward with the project, because if we did it on a -- if we if not have the funding and we did on a straight economic benefit, then those that would get the benefit would be paying and those that didn't would also have to be contributing through rates.

And from a leadership perspective at PUC we thought that was patently unfair, and that is why we did not move forward with the project.

With the addition of the almost $12 million in NRCan funding, it gave us the ability to remain net zero with respect to average bill increase, but also extend the voltage optimization benefit to everybody.  Regardless of the diminishing returns it was in effect being funded through the grant money.

So from a fairness perspective, that met our requirement with respect to everybody who was paying would actually benefit.  And with the 12 million we were able to do that and remain at a net bill zero increase.

That was a long question, so hopefully I have answered both of the things.

MR. BAX:  Yes.  No, it's -- yeah --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can follow up.  The customers that were more marginal from a cost-benefit point of view, right, that you have added to make sure everybody who pays gets the benefit, they get less benefit, right, because that is why it is marginal?

MR. BREWER:  Let me see if I can sort of give you the global.  If we looked at a particular feeder, there are some that will get on the high end, so 4 percent, north of 4 percent savings, there were some that might be down around one and a half percent savings.

If we were doing this as a traditional capital project we would target the ones that would get the 4 percent savings and we would leave out the ones that got the one and a half percent savings.

So those 4 percent savings would be in, you know, a situation where everybody was contributing and yet they would get a large amount of savings.

In our mind, if everybody was contributing, then everybody should get some savings out of it. And so that is where the NRCan funding assisted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  What I am trying to understand is, the ones who are getting one and a half percent savings, they're actually paying more than the savings they're getting, right?  Because they're still paying the same amount as the customers who are getting the 4 percent savings.  It is not like you -- you allocate it.

MR. BREWER:  So if we were to go and just do the one and a half percent area, then the costs would be higher than the one and a half percent area.  But if we went and did the 4 percent area and didn't do the one and a half, they would still be paying something and would get zero benefit.

So I think if you look at the marginal difference, so whether they're paying and getting no benefit or whether there is a slight increase to what they're being -- to what they're contributing, but they're getting the one and a half percent benefit, the determination from our end was that they were better off that way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they're actually worse off, though, from a financial point of view they're worse off.

MR. BREWER:  I think they're better.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if they're not getting as much benefit as -- as opposed to no project.

MR. BREWER:  So if there was no project, right, then some of these areas would probably get picked off with traditional capital-type work, right, and they would continue to contribute and get no benefit.

By being able to do this all at once and to leverage $12 million in NRCan funding we're able to do it at a significant discount to what it would be in a traditional capital roll-out, and we're able to extend the benefit to everybody.  So I think they are better off this way, significantly better off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- okay.  I will come back to it.  Thanks.

MR. BAX:  Changing direction again, a new area of focus.  The reference is Staff 62 and the ICM application, pages 11, Table 1.

Table 1 of the ICM application indicates that there is an expected annual benefit of $342,708 for "reduced future capital expenditures due to SSG implementation".

PUC responded to -- in Staff 62 that:

"The amount of $342,708 reflect potential future capital savings associated with using substation power transformers with integral voltage regulation as opposed to stand-alone units to achieve VVM.  Please refer to Appendix G, item G, page 60 of the originally-filed ICM application.  For the VVM implementation, the necessary equipment to alter the bus or feeders voltages need to be fully functional by the VVM implementation complete date, which is the end of 2020, the SSG project completion.  Given that the transformer and station replacements are now removed from the SSG project and are stand-alone projects, if a station is renewed after the SSG project completion, there will already be VVM equipment that can be incorporated into the new station without the additional cost of online tap changers.  If OLTCs are purchased, this will represent a cost increase, since the existing VVM equipment will be made redundant.  In this case the superseded VVM equipment would still be included in SSG project costs."

Now, the question A:

"In the situation described above, please explain how PUC expects to achieve the cost savings it claims for deferred projects."

MR. BELL:  In evaluating the cost savings for deferred CAPEX, the -- I guess I call it the evolution of this project over six years where we had initially with the stations included, at one point early in the model, the present value and calculations was over $14 million in present value potential for deferred CAPEX.

When we started looking at this in detail and trying to understand where these numbers are coming from, it included long-term plans that we anticipated, including station reductions because of our voltage conversion program, which is related to the 4 kV, to 12.5 kV program.

So in PUC's efforts to make this real, we discounted all of those early numbers to try and understand what we thought was a realistic estimate.

Where we have arrived in our thinking is, we anticipate that through the detailed design we will find locations where a load tap changer installation versus feeder regulation will probably work.  And there is at least three transformers that we know are north of 55 years old, which basically would be the potential target for power transformers.

If we implement those now, we know that will defer that future cost of that substation rehab.  So we will have a new transformer that we can rehab the station around.  So that is part of that estimated CAPEX savings, is not having to replace the power transformers that will be done potentially during this project.

We also anticipate -- given the early load flow analysis -- that we will be able to eliminate an additional DS in, I think it is 2027, which is our three-year cycle.  There's one of them out there we think we can eliminate a DS rebuild completely with the reconfiguration and DA control that we will have.

And the long-term benefit NPV number became around $3.6 million over 25 years, which is sort of where the 342,000 annual number comes from.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry to interrupt Mr. Bax's questions, but we are going on eleven o'clock now, and I am wondering if we need a break, or if you are near the end of your questions, Mr. Bax, we can go forward.  But if anybody --


MR. VELLONE:  Is there a natural break at this point?  Or do you want to finish this exchange maybe?

MR. BAX:  I would suggest if we can finish this exchange.  I've got two questions left.

MR. VELLONE:  So let's finish this one exchange on this question, then we will pick up the other questions.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. BAX:  Sorry, would you repeat part of -- the part of your answer that dealt with replacement of stations, right?  Because you are talking about replacing a transformer station with OLTCs, so that you are not doing a feeder voltage control implementation.

But SSG needs be to completed by 2020. So is this station replacement before or after 2020?

MR. STEFANO:  In response to your question, sub 16 is one of the ones that we have -- one of the substations that we have consideration for rebuild between 2019 and 2020.  We are currently out for tender on the purchase of a power transformer, and we're speccing it out so that the pricing will be received both with and without online tap changers for the power transformer.

So we will be in a position, once there is a definitive position on this particular project, to proceed with purchasing the power transformer accordingly.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  And that differential that you are talking about there, in the SSG project, do you have costs in your project to do voltage control at this point?

MR. STEFANO:  To confirm, all the voltage control is in the SSG project.  It is not embedded in the DSP.

MR. BAX:  So just to understand, the voltage control costs for station 16 are in the SSG project.  And what you're doing is you are figuring out whether you are going to implement it on a feeder basis or by purchasing a transformer with OLTC, and it's going to be an economic decision?

MR. STEFANO:  That is correct.

MR. BAX:  So how does that then still -- how do you expect to have cost savings outside of station 16, which is already in the SSG for the voltage control?  Where does that capital saving come from?

MR. BREWER:  So if you extend the analysis that's being done on sub 16 and you look at some of our other substations, there will be economic analysis done as to whether using a transformer change or using a feeder voltage regulator makes the most sense.

Some of those situations we're anticipating and we have indicated earlier, because of some of the complexities, we are expecting that there will be transformer replacements as part of the SSG project.

That will result in less CAPEX in outlying years beyond our current DSP, and that is what has been measured.

MR. BAX:  But the replacement of those transformers is not currently part of your SSG project, because you've removed all of them from the scope of the SSG project.

MR. BREWER:  We have removed the complete station rebuild.  What we haven't done is said there won't be an analysis based on a particular feeder, particular stations as to what makes the most economic sense, whether doing OLTC makes the most sense or doing something else.

So I think that is where there's been an estimate on how many that will involve, and then we discounted it significantly from what the estimate yielded, as Mr. Bell walked you trough.  So that is where we have ended up with deferred CAPEX.

MR. BAX:  So let me take a slightly different tack, then.  The economic analysis would be the voltage control equipment on either a bus or on a feeder versus online tap changer, right, the incremental cost.

The price of the transformer that you are replacing, the station transformer that you are replacing, is not in the SSG project and is currently not in your DSP.  So where does that capital come from?

MR. BREWER:  So the price to do the voltage regulator, the inline voltage regulator, is in the project.  If the complexities of doing that are such that the cost of doing it is the equivalent of doing a transformer change or is close, then there would be a value engineering decision based on which route to go.

And we anticipate that in a few situations, we will be going the route of replacing the transformer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Again I would like to follow up.  Do I understand you to say that right now replacing those transformers is not in the SSG project, and it's not in the DSP.  But you expect that there will be some.  Right now they're not in either budget?

MR. BREWER:  There is dollars included in the SSG project that would pay for those transformers, or would pay for the voltage regulation.

There would be a value engineering decision as to which one was the best route to go in terms of the economics of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you said that the cost comparison would be between the incremental cost of the transformer that could do the voltage regulation as opposed to a regular transformer, versus voltage regulation on the feeders.  Is that not right?  You're talking about the whole cost of the transformer?

MR. BREWER:  There's two different things.  With respect to substation 16, that is being built in this period, before 2020.  So it is out -- part of it will be done this year, and the rest will be done next year.

With respect to that, we have two prices.  There is an incremental cost of voltage regulation at the transformer.

So based on whether this project moves forward or doesn't, that decision would be made because the transformer's already being replaced and is already in the DSP for sub 16.

If we take that analysis, okay, and we say we'll do the same thing with respect to providing voltage regulation on a particular feeder and what that looks like versus the cost of doing the transformer and we do that analysis, in some of the situations, we think that the cost of doing the voltage regulation on the feeder will be next to equivalent to doing the transformer replacement.

And in that case, we would make a value engineering decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that still doesn't answer my question.  The cost of the transformer that you are talking about, is it the incremental cost of having voltage regulation on the transformer?  Or is it the total cost of the transformer?

That is, with you looking at -- we currently plan to have voltage regulation on this feeder.  Let's see whether we can get the whole transformer with voltage regulation for cheaper.  Is that what you are talking about?  Or just the incremental cost of having the transformer with voltage regulation?

Which is the comparison you are doing?  Because in 16, it is the latter, right?

MR. BELL:  Correct.  I mean, I think 16 -- putting that aside is because that is what the budget was.  So we identified it incrementally.

If I could describe it this way.  The design load will require purchase of equipment regulators for voltage control at the station, multiple units for the multiple feeders out of the station.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. BELL:  So the cost -- total install cost of that solution may be equivalent to us electing to just replace the power transformer at the station.

So we're talking the same SSG envelope we're working with, the same dollars.  It is just what selection of the technology solution to make it work, to control the voltage.

That saving of not having to replace that transformer in 27 is part of that benefit.  So we will have -- in 27, we're going to have a transformer that is 67 years old or 68 years old, that's coming up for our next DSP, the likely next one past where we are.

So that's -- we're basically taking that transformer and saying we'll have the transformer with voltage control and we will rebuild that station then around it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the difference in cost between the transformer with voltage control and without for station 16, just ballpark?

MR. BELL:  I don't have the...


[Witness panel confers]

MR. BELL:  So I mean we have allowed an incremental unit price difference for the transformer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How much?

MR. BELL:  That's the $60,000 of the unit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BELL:  But we haven't allowed for what is already in the project, which is the actual implementation of the voltage control, the software, the programming, the design and communication to make that work.

That is part of our project now, no matter what device we're controlling.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in station 16 the transformer costs how much?

MR. BELL:  We're out for tender on it right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Roughly.

MR. BELL:  400,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  400,000.  So -- and then another 15 percent if you want to add voltage control?

MR. BELL:  No.  I want to add online tap changer capability for control.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you still have to do -- have all of the balance of system stuff to have voltage control, which you would have to have if you were controlling it on the feeders as well.

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the same stuff?  Okay.  So you are comparing that 60,000 to controlling feeders, and you're saying it's -- our overall cost is going to be less because we're already replacing the transformer, right?

MR. BELL:  I don't know that I followed your question, sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  Again, we are talking about buying a piece of hardware to control voltage and a control system to control it.  The --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The control system is the same?

MR. BELL:  The control system design will happen.  So is two of these units on feeders going to be equivalent to a transformer?  Fully installed, maybe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is the 60,000 component of the transformer.  Not the 460,000 total transformer cost?  Right?

MR. BELL:  No.  That's...

MR. BREWER:  So on sub-16 that is already being rebuilt, we're already buying a transformer.  So the difference between 400 and 460,000, then you would be correct.  On stations that we're not planning on doing a rebuild for ten, 15, 20 years and we have the ability to decide to maybe do an early replacement of the transformer instead of putting the inline regulators in, because there is a cost, then we're saving 15 years from now having to replace that transformer, and we're doing it as part of the SSG project because it is an equivalent amount to what it would cost us to do the other solution.

That is the -- that is where the deferred CAPEX comes from.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand what you are saying.  And I understand the economics.  But I don't think the answer is as clear as you perhaps intend it, or maybe I am just stupid.

You have hardware to control voltage and software, right?  Or balance the system.  The hardware either goes on the feeders or it goes on the transformer.  Right?

You can compare those two costs, the incremental cost of putting that hardware on the feeder or on the transformer, and sometimes it is cheaper to put it on the transformer, right?  The balance of cost is the same.  But that still doesn't give you a new transformer.  So the question is --


MR. BREWER:  Well, I think if I -- I think I may be able to give you some clarity here.  On a transformer that we're looking at that we're looking at replacing in 15 years, it involves replacing the transformer.  It is a $460,000 cost now as part of the project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. BREWER:  It is not a $60,000 addition to a 50-year-old transformer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.

MR. BREWER:  So the end result is that you do have a new transformer that you don't need to replace 15 years from now --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. BREWER:  -- and it was paid for through the project because the cost was equivalent to doing another solution and we're able to value engineer that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the original question was where are you getting the $400,000.

MR. BREWER:  It is from the $32.8 million envelope, because that envelope was covering the cost of doing the inline solution, which would have been engineered as equivalent to the cost of replacing the transformer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are only going to replace the transformer early if the cost of replacing the whole transformer, the 460,000, is cheaper than the hardware on the feeders?  Right?

MR. BREWER:  That is the premise that we're talking about with respect to deferred CAPEX, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

MR. VELLONE:  I am going to suggest we take our break, because we kind of dragged it for 20 minutes here.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Let's take 15 minutes and come back at 11:25.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's 12 minutes.
--- Recess taken at 11:15 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:31 a.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  Welcome back, everyone.  So we are continuing with the questions on behalf of Staff from Mr. Bax.

MR. BAX:  Before the break, we had rather extensive discussion and conversation about on load tap changers, and transformers and voltage control equipment, and so on.

While that may on the one hand seem to be getting into a whole lot of detail, I think the important thing to recognize, for us as staff, is that the $342,000 represents a significant chunk of the net benefit for the project.
So obviously we need to have a good understanding of that.

That was also one of the reasons why earlier I asked questions around, what is the cost of equipping a single feeder, or a station for that matter, so that we could get some kind of an idea, because the obvious direction was on load tap changers versus some other equipment.  What we have added to the mix now is the cost of the transformer.

So just to finalize part of that discussion, the transformers that you are looking at potentially replacing, if you have the voltage control equipment on a per feeder or bus basis, is more than the replacement cost of the transformer with on load tap changers, you would include that as part of the SSG project which needs to be completed by 2020.

So how is it that you would expect to get that engineering analysis done, and the equipment purchased and installed in time to get this project finished?

MR. BELL:  This is back to the question of timing and project schedule that's...


MR. BAX:  It is a follow up on this $340,000 worth of benefit.

MR. BELL:  Yes, there is certainly a lot of engineering analysis to do.  I think that is recognized.

I think the prioritization of that engineering analysis will help drive the long lead time decisions first.

The how it can be done, I guess, will be coming back to the EPC contractor to -- they have their schedule.  Can they achieve it?  They have a lot of resources, I guess.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  The next part of that question is:  Would there have been a need for the $342,708 in capital expenditures if there was no SSG project?

MR. BREWER:  The $342,000 is the savings on future CAPEX.  So it's things that we're saying would have to have been done in the future that would be done as part of the project, and therefore they won't have to get done in the future and there is a current savings for them.

So I think if you are asking would they have to be done, the future CAPEX.  If the project didn't go forward, then there would be expenditures that would happen.

If the project does go forward, then there would be a savings achieved because those things wouldn't have to happen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have the full calculation of that somewhere, when the capital is saved and how you did the net present value and where you got the 342?  I mean, the 342 didn't just come out of the air.  There is a spreadsheet that gave it to you, right?

MR. BELL:  I guess there's an early design spreadsheet that we took 25 percent of, in that sense.  So I mean, the elements of that original assumption were, I think -- you know, we felt were too high.  But I think in the spreadsheet calculation, I guess it was -- we took a quarter of it and then turned it into an annual amount.

So I don't think it's filed, if that is the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Didn't somebody just say a few minutes ago that you did a whole lot of review of what CAPEX you would actually save and came up with like $3.6 million or something, which you then present-valued?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BREWER:  So we do have some early spreadsheets.  If you are asking for us to file some of that as background, we will be happy to.

What we had done from PUC's perspective is looked at what was being proposed as deferred CAPEX based on the criteria that was used and we applied -- took that number and we applied a 25 percent factor to it to make sure it was a number we would hit, so it was a realistic number.

But we certainly can provide that for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, this is deferred CAPEX as proposed by Leidos?  Who proposed it?  Who did the original spreadsheet that got four times 342?

MR. BREWER:  I don't think we have that in front of us, but we're happy to get it for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know where you got the estimate?

MR. BREWER:  I don't know which report it was in, or where it came from.  But I am happy to get it for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it wasn't done internally?

MR. BREWER:  So the PUC exercise was to look at something that we were given and to determine what we thought was a reasonable number to ensure that we would be able to hit it. That is why we used the 25 percent of the number that we were presented with.

The foundation of that number, we're happy to get for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Undertaking?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JTC1.2.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, 1.1.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, 1.2 --


MS. VLAHOS:  We struck 1.1.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Then this is JC 1.1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I got the first.

[Laughter]
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE FOUNDATION FOR THE $324,708 BENEFIT


MR. BAX:  The references is Staff 63 and ICM application page 13.  PUC wrote in its response to Staff 63 that the number of interruptions is reduced via planned or automated outage switching.

The number of unplanned momentary interruptions will see no change, but the sustained outages to a portion of the customers will be reduced via distribution automation.

This is important for an understanding of what DA does and the terminology needs to be precise.  If a fuse blows causing an outage, then DA will not help restore power and it is a sustained outage.

If a feeder trips, then with DA, the section of the feeder that is faulted can be determined and a switching sequence can be initiated to restore power to the unfaulted section.

This does not reduce the name of interruptions, but reduces the number of customers affected for more than a minute of no power, which is the threshold for reporting customers interrupted.

So the number of sustained outages is not reduced, but the number of customers interrupted is reduced.  In short, the number of system interruptions goes -- does not go down as a result of distribution automation, but SAIFI goes down because the number of customer interruptions is reduced, and SAIDI goes down because the number of customer hours interrupted is reduced.

So the question is:  Is this what your answer was intended to convey?

MR. STEFANO:  I could elaborate on that.  You are entirely correct on your assessment.  The number of interruptions will not change.

However, as you indicated, both SAIFI and SAIDI will be decreased, because the number of customers interrupted and the number of customer hours of interrupted by definition will go down as a result of DA.

MR. BAX:  Yes, good.  Thank you.  Next question, a different focus.  Reference is Staff 66 and Staff 67.  And EB-2018-0219, Appendix J.

In Appendix J it is noted that the use of Bellwether meters to report voltage and other information, other data, for VVM there is a need for Bellwether meter voltage readings at or close to the end of the feeder.  Staff questions asked where -- does this impact the number of voltage readings that are required of the AMI system and can this system accommodate the frequency of readings more than hourly by VVM application.

The PUC response was the frequency of voltage readings required for VVM control will be tuned during commissioning and monitored on the actual voltage readings from the smart meters.

So the question is:


The frequency of voltage readings was a question about how often does PUC need to get the current voltage to be able to do VVM.  Is it once per hour?  Once per 15 minutes?  Once per five minutes, or what?

Then, given this requirement for the software to work properly to manage voltage, what is the impact on the AMR system and can it handle the additional data load under all anticipated circumstances?  The AMR system did not have a lot of spare capacity beyond the transfer of meter data as specified by the IESO when it was introduced.

So (a):  What is the expected additional traffic imposed on the AMR system by the VVM application and will the meter data transfer operate successfully and within its regulatory operating specifications in all scenarios incorporated in its design?

MR. BELL:  I will start at the end and work back.  If I miss part of it, let me know.

The conversation between the design team with Leidos and the Sensus, which is our AMI provider, indicated that, although they did not do a study of the traffic, the quantity of readings they were looking at they felt basically could be accommodated within the AMI system in terms of traffic.

The actual design quantity of readings from the Leidos design, their description to me is basically it was tuneable.  So I don't have an exact number that they've decided they needed in terms of that level of design, but they did discuss it with the meter service provider and the AMI software in the system and they felt the traffic could be handled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This was Leidos that had this discussion, right?

MR. BELL:  With, yeah, the Sensus.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But Leidos is no longer involved in the project, right?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at some point somebody has to determine what the frequency of readings is going to be.  You don't know that yet?

MR. BELL:  Not offhand, no, I don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide it?

MR. VELLONE:  I think it is in answer B in front of you on the screen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, is it?  So the answer is you don't know what the frequency of the voltage readings will be?  I don't understand how you can design a system if you don't know basic information like that.

MR. BELL:  I guess I can say we don't know what it needs to be.  You say it...

I mean, like, they have designed these systems to work.  They know the range of them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sensus didn't design their system to accept VVM, right?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the VVO system, this is Survalent?  It is a --


MR. BELL:  It is a module --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Within Survalent, and they designed it with a certain frequency of voltage readings, right?

MR. BREWER:  Our understanding is that you can vary the frequency so it is tuneable based on what you require in terms of that particular feeder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so when Sensus said they had room, they must have heard some information on what the volume of readings is going to be.  What was it?  You can do this by way of undertaking if you want.  I don't mind.

MR. BELL:  I guess I am not quite sure how to get the answer.  I mean, I think the premise was hourly in terms of their assumption.  The ability of the system to detect voltage outliers from a meter perspective is a given.  I mean, that is what they do now.

So, I mean, if we get a voltage excursion, I mean, that is part of the existing data traffic.  So if they're going to ask for a higher frequency on certain meters, that's -- I don't know the quantity of margin they have asked for, but they didn't design the system to just work with what we have in terms of customers.  So there's a capacity there, I guess.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When Sensus said their AMR system could handle this, that was on the basis of certain data and certain information provided to them.  What was that?  Do we have that in the evidence anywhere?

MR. VELLONE:  Did I just hear hourly?  I just heard hourly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think that was the original assumption.  I am asking what Sensus said they could handle.  If it's hourly, then that is great.  You can just say so.  But it has to come from them.  Not from you, John.

MR. BELL:  I can't recall a reference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  You can undertake to let us know what Sensus assumed would be the amount of data they had to handle in the AMR.

MR. VELLONE:  Can I follow up on that?  So you're asking for an undertaking of what Leidos told Sensus.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am asking what Sensus assumed.  The current evidence is the AMR can handle it.  So you are relying on Sensus telling you that.  What did Sensus assume in order to tell you that?  I don't care who told them.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  That will be -- do we have that undertaking?

MR. VELLONE:  We will give that undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is JTC1.2.

MR. VELLONE:  You are asking us to ask Sensus what their answer was based on, basically?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay, fine.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.2:  TO ADVISE SENSUS ASSUMPTIONS FOR FREQUENCY OF VOLTAGE READINGS.

MR. BAX:  In order to not get too stuck in the weeds here, the concerns that I am trying to get clarity on is, you have a smart meter and you have VVM application and there is information going from smart meters through an AMR to your SCADA system, basically, or the VVM module.  What is the additional traffic that is put on the AMR so that your billing system in fact will work correctly?

Second, what is the frequency at which the data is required by the VVM application?  If it's hourly, how do you deal with voltage sags if you've got a commercial customer who turns on a motor and all of a sudden your voltage drops down?  There are ways that you can compensate by going with a higher voltage in your set point, but that doesn't give you the savings that you are looking for, right?  So those two systems have somewhat different requirements.  How are you meeting the requirements?  And are the two systems able to do it?

If you send information from a smart meter through your AMR to your VVM, and it takes 15 minutes for the data to get there, then is that fast enough for your VVM system to be successful without getting into excursions outside of CSA limits?

MR. BREWER:  So a couple of things.  The system was designed with respect to the meters to accommodate twice as many as is currently -- roughly twice as many as is currently there.

I can get into the reasons why, if you would like to know that, but this is in terms of answering your questions.  So it has extra capacity in the system.

From our perspective at PUC, we asked for Leidos to confirm with Sensus that the system that Sensus had would be able to handle what Leidos was going to propose. They had that discussion.  The answer was based on, to Leidos' satisfaction, that it could.

We didn't delve into the specific details, but we undertook to get more details on it.  So hopefully, that gives you the...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow-up on that?  Because this raises another issue.  You have an assumption of 2.7 percent savings, volume savings by customers as a result of VVM.  That must assume a particular ability, a speed of response for voltage variations.  What is that?

The reason I ask that is because if you're not reporting it often enough to get that response time, then you can't get the savings.  Isn't that right?

MR. BREWER:  I think you are asking me the same question you asked with respect to the undertaking, and we have agreed to get to you the information that Sensus was given, that formed the basis of the Leidos report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am asking a completely different question.  I am asking a completely different question.  You were talking with Mr. Bax about the capacity of the AMR.  I am not talking about the capacity of the AMR.  I am talking about how frequently do you have to report voltage in order to deliver the savings.

MR. BREWER:  Perhaps I misunderstood your undertaking, because my understanding was -- from the undertaking was that we were to ask Sensus what assumption they were using on the frequency of reporting out and what Leidos had asked, which was the foundation of the Leidos report.

So that is where I was coming from with respect to I think the answer is the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. BAX:  Actually, if I can clarify that. The answer is not the same.  The one deals with your AMR system will stay whole, handle the traffic and not jeopardize your billing system.  That is one question.

The other question is:  When you have a smart meter that says this is the voltage, or you interrogate it to ask what's the voltage, then how fast does -- how long does it take for that reading to get back to the VVM application?  Because if it self-triggers and says, oh, the voltage is low, but it takes 15 minutes to get there, then your VVM application is not responding quickly enough to that particular operating situation, and it would be running below the CSA limits.

MR. BREWER:  So with respect to the question that Mr. Shepherd had posed, my understanding was he was looking for the frequency at which they were talking, the two systems.

My understanding was we had undertaken to go to Sensus to try to find out what frequency Leidos had asked them if they could handle, and what would then have been the foundation of the Leidos report.  So that was why I said the two seemed to be the same thing.

I think your question was a different one.  So if you can re-pose it for me, I will try to walk through it.

MR. BAX:  Okay.  So the latency of the data is when a smart meter is either interrogated -- it sends a voltage value.  How long does it take for that voltage reading from that meter to transit through the AMR system, et cetera, and end up in the VVM application?

MR. STEFANO:  I could speak specifically to our AMI system.  In the event we need to determine a specific meter reading, we could ping that specific meter at any give point in time, and within a matter of seconds that meter reading is returned back to the requester.

MR. BAX:  Okay.

MR. STEFANO:  That is the -- how it works from a meter reading perspective.

MR. BAX:  Right, and I understand that when you put in a high priority message.

Now, that then gets into the design of are these voltage readings high priority.  And what I am looking at is if a number of meters respond automatically and you get collisions, you get delays in how fast that data transits through the system.  So what is the expected delay time, and is that still within the capability?

MR. STEFANO:  I think it is as described previously.  I think we are going to -- that level of information will have to be enquired to determine.

It is certainly our...


[Witness panel confers]

MR. BELL:  Perhaps another way for us to look at this is, in terms of specification of what we must receive, is a system that works and that doesn't violate CSA standards.  And the technology of the Survalent DVO module and its communication and capability to a meter, that you talked about.  Basically you change the programming of the Bellwether meter, you change the settings so it basically acts -- these ones are high priority.

So it works, I guess.  But that is -- but in terms of the detail of that, certainly that is not something that we've looked at to that level.  The system must be designed to work.  It must be designed to meet standards and to deliver the results that we're looking for.

So that's -- they have been successfully deployed elsewhere.  It is part of what we expected to happen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually asking about a different stage of that.  So there may be three components to this rather than just two.  Because, you know, get enough lawyers in a room, we can parse everything to death.

The first part is what can the AMR happened will, how much data can you put into it.  We have talked about that, and you have given an undertaking.

The second part is, if there is a lot of data going back and forth, how quickly will the information get from the meter to the control system so that the control system can react.  That is what you have raised.

There is a third question, though, and that is if you are only -- maybe this is just because I'm not an engineer, so I basically don't understand any of this.  There is a third question and that is if you are only telling the system once an hour what your voltage is, then aren't there a whole lot of voltage fluctuations that you are not correcting for?  And if that is the case, are you getting your whole 2.7 percent?  Does that make sense?

MR. BREWER:  I think I have something for you.  I believe I have something that might help here.  Give me a second to go over it.

So if I could turn you to the Leidos preliminary design on VVM, I will take you to figure 1 which is page 3 of the report, so Appendix C-1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BREWER:  So what we're looking at is a graph that has on the left-hand side varying voltages from 110 to 125.  And then there is feeder length along the bottom, but is it really for illustrative purposes here.

If you look at -- I don't know if you can see it on the screen there, the one that is red, but it is one that goes from 125 and then ends up actually down about 111 as it moves.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BREWER:  And if you contrast that with the one that starts at, I am going to say it is roughly 120, and goes down to about 112, give or take.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BREWER:  So based on what they've looked at with respect to the system, the expectation is that you will end up with, if you look at the differential early on in the feeder where you've got, you know, your voltage control next to the substation, whether it is in or out, okay, then you look at it as it goes along, this is the analysis that they have provided that comes up with where the savings comes from on the 2.7 percent.

So you've got an initial start below and then you've got voltage, which is really just tweaking it so that it doesn't drop down too far.  That is the low line, and whereas the red line or the middle line you can see where there is significant change along the system.  Some of this feedback comes from the AMI.  Some of it is going to come from intelligence systems that are built into the feeder itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The flatter voltage profile comes from the VVM system being able to react to voltage variations, right?  That's how it works.

MR. BREWER:  That's correct.  And it comes from a number of different sources.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if it can't react quickly enough because it is only hearing once an hour what the voltage is, doesn't that mean that you can't flatten the profile as much?  That seems obvious to me, but I --


MR. BREWER:  And I think where I'm coming from is that with the concept and the design that Leidos is proposing, what they're indicating is that what they would achieve is the line that goes from the 120 down to the 112, the flatter line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that assumes one -- hourly reporting of voltage?

MR. BREWER:  That assumes that the conversation that they had with Sensus, which we're going to get back to you on, gave them sufficient comfort that they would be able to do this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Thanks.

MR. BREWER:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  So I still have a general question, because the application as filed is based on a 30 percent engineering design, and my observation is that a lot of the questions that are being asked are things that would need to be addressed at the 100 percent engineering design phase.

Is the expectation of the parties that we're going to do the 100 percent engineering in the next two days?  Because I think the applicant is looking for regulatory approval before they invest the time, money, and resources into doing all of that extra work.  That's the premise of the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, and I would have thought, John, that asking questions about technical deal-breakers like the AMR can't handle the volume is perfectly legitimate.

Asking questions like, do you need more -- less latency in your reporting in order to fix the problems quickly enough is -- that could be a deal-breaker, because it will reduce your benefits.

If you can't achieve the benefits or you can't technically deliver the project, then it doesn't matter what your engineering level is.  If you can't, you can't.  That is the questions we're asking now.

You are right, more detailed questions about are you going to do it this way or that way may be premature.  But questions about, can you actually achieve this or not, that is not about whether you've done the detailed engineering.  You shouldn't be get -- asking approval if you can't say, yes, we can achieve it.  Is that fair?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  We will go on that premise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. BAX:  That was the premise of my question on this, because this to me is a potential deal-breaker because, if you can't use the AMR system, then you've got to come up with another system in order to provide the communication, and then where is that cost?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. BAX:  Right?  So that was the questions that I had.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I would be next.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You took more than an hour, by the way.

[Laughter]

MR. BAX:  I was going to say, the sand in my hourglass was wet.

[Laughter]
Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So my first set of questions are about the project agreement and the amended letter of intent.  These are Appendices 11 and 13 to the interrogatory responses.  And just to clarify, I am only referring to the redacted documents that were filed on the public record.  If we need to get into any of the stuff that is, you know, parties have agreed to treat as confidential, we can talk about that later and do it in camera perhaps tomorrow.

So the first -- first of all, the project agreement -- this is at Appendix 13.  If you can turn that up.  First of all, just to confirm, this is a draft document.  There hasn't been anything executed to date.  Is that correct?

MR. BREWER:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And also just confirm, this --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can I interrupt you?  Do we have an evidence reference for this?

MR. VELLONE:  It is -- I believe this is Appendix 13 to the interrogatory responses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Which interrogatory response?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It was in response to --


MR. VELLONE:  A bunch of them cited Appendix 13.  So the appendices to the back of the IRs are all of the attachments.  This one was Appendix 13 to those IR responses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And so this draft project agreement is dated sometime 2019.  So is it fair to say that this -- well, why don't you just confirm for me that this supersedes the provisions of any of the letters of intent that preceded it.

Just in terms of chronology, like, if something was in a letter of intent but it is not in the project agreement, are we -- is it safe to assume that the project agreement has superseded?

MR. BREWER:  I think it would be safe to assume that if there was not a particular point and there was something in the project agreement that was different in the letter of intent, that the project agreement was superseded.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is only when the project agreement is signed, though, right?  Until it is signed the letter of intent is still what governs the deal, right?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, maybe we can follow up.  Was the letter of intent signed?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it was.  I have a signed copy.

MR. BREWER:  Certainly the letter of intent was signed.  I am just reviewing it to ensure there wasn't an expiry date on it, that indicated it was in full force and effect that it would be in place.

Looking at the letter of intent, there are a number of things contemplated here that have dates that they were to have been done by.  So in terms of what is materially in effect at this point I think it is the draft project agreement that we're contemplating the terms from.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So then --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, no, no, no, I haven't finished the question, though.  Because the draft project agreement is not an agreement.  So you're saying there is no agreement in effect currently?  There is no legally binding document on this project currently in effect; is that right?  Sorry, Ljuba.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's okay.  I am trying to figure out if I have to ask questions on both documents in detail or whether one would precede or supersede the other.

MR. BREWER:  So in reading the letter of intent, it indicates that "the letter of intent is hereby ratified and affirmed and all other terms of the letter shall remain in full force and effect with the exclusion of the exclusivity period", so what I was reading was the exclusivity period.  So it seems like it is in effect save and except the exclusivity period, from what I can read on the second page of the letter of intent.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, where are you reading from, please?

MR. BREWER:  Page 2 of the letter of intent, the amended letter of intent dated December 16th, 2015.


On the second page, in the second paragraph:

"In support of the foregoing paragraph 2b, the letter of intent is hereby amended by extending the term of the exclusivity period to August 1st, 2016.  Save and except as amended herein, the letter of intent is hereby ratified and affirmed.  No other terms of the letter of intent shall remain in full force and effect."

MR. SHEPHARD:  So there is no binding agreement in place, because the only binding term in the letter of intent was exclusivity.  Everything else was non-binding, isn't that right?


MR. BREWER:  Binding, non-binding.  You are getting into some legal terms, and I am not a lawyer, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you not know what the PUC is currently obligated to do legally?


MR. BREWER:  PUC isn't currently obligated to proceed with the project unless there is OEB approval and final approval of the Board commensurate with that.  So there is no obligation from PUC to proceed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just in general to look at the project agreement, there is a reference to a number of schedules that were not filed with the project agreement.  Have those schedules been drafted?


MR. BELL:  There's a number of schedules at various states of draft.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Could I have an undertaking to have those filed, please?


MR. BREWER:  When they're complete, we will be happy to send them in.  Is that what you're asking?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No, I'd like whatever state they're in.  The project agreement is a draft.  So if the schedules are in draft form as well, we would like to review those.  So if I could have them filed, whatever state they're in.


MR. BREWER:  I don't know that at the level that -- some of these are things -- like they relate to the design and construction.  So I am not sure permits -- some of these would be created as part of the agreement going forward, scheduling.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That may be.  But I would like you to produce them in any event.  Some of the schedules pertain to very important aspects of this application and, you know, if they're in draft or non-existent form at this point, we need to know that.  So will you produce those?


MR. BREWER:  Okay.  We will give you what we have at this point.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  JTC1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.3:  TO PRODUCE THE SCHEDULES TO THE DRAFT PROJECT AGREEMENT FILED AT APPENDIX 13 OF THE INTERROGATORY RESPONSES AT WHATEVER CURRENT STATE THEY'RE AT


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask you to include -- obviously you are going to include schedule 15, the financial model.  Please include that in Excel format.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, to clarify, I referred to them as appendices.  They're schedules -- no, I did refer to them as schedules -- and to produce the schedule 15 financial model in Excel format.  So that will all be part of JTC1.3.


MS. GIRVAN:  Where are these coming from?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are agreeing to that, right?


MR. BREWER:  I am trying to read what she is saying here.  One sec.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just for clarification, these appendices and schedules are set out in the project agreement at appendix 13, page IV.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in the definitions, there's lots of them referred to.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So I am moving to page 2 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We didn't get an answer to that.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, sorry.  So I did get an answer to the undertaking that the schedules and appendices were produced.


With respect to the additional question about the financial model, I guess that part we are still waiting on.


MR. BREWER:  There are some that are in draft form that we can provide, and there are some that, just in looking at them, that wouldn't have been created yet.


So I don't know that I can agree to give you things that haven't been created yet.  But I can agree to supply you with things that are substantially complete at this point.  Is that what you are asking for?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am asking you to produce whatever the version, whatever draft form of the appendices and schedules.  And if that means you produce a document that says, you know, schedule 13 and it is a blank page, then we would like to see that because that is...


MR. SHEPHERD:  You still didn't answer the question of an Excel version of the financial model in live format so we can plug in numbers.


MR. BREWER:  I don't know if that is the format it is currently in.  So developing a financial model on a complex thing that would allow you to plug and play, I don't know if that is something we could do quickly.


But give us a second, and we will see what we can do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The agreement actually requires you to plug in new numbers periodically in the financial model.  So presumably, it is capable of doing that.


MR. VELLONE:  If it exists.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm?


MR. VELLONE:  If it has been created yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It has been created, because that is where the numbers come from.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  We can agree to provide a financial model.  I don't know that it is going to be to the financial plug and play stage, but we will endeavour to provide whatever we can to meet your request.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I...


MR. VELLONE:  Can we get these marked as two separate undertakings, so we can deal with Ljuba's first, which is I think an undertaking to produce the schedules to the draft project agreement filed at appendix 13 of the interrogatory responses at whatever current state they're at.  Let's get that one marked, and then let's deal with yours separately.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You know the financial model is schedule 15, so it is one of those.


MR. VELLONE:  Correct.  But I am thinking it might be an image.  Let's deal with yours separately.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So JTC1.3 is clear.  So JTC1.4 will be to produce the financial model at schedule 15 and, if available, in Excel format.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.4:  TO PRODUCE THE FINANCIAL MODEL AT SCHEDULE 15 AND, IF AVAILABLE, IN EXCEL FORMAT


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if not, explain how you did all of these numbers without it, which is the ones you reported to the city.


MR. BREWER:  That's the payment schedule, monthly payment schedule 8?  We can show you what the payment schedule is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you do that without the financial model?  The financial model drives the payments.


MR. BREWER:  You're asking for one that is plug and play, and I don't know that it's at that stage.  So my point is I can supply you with what we have, and we will endeavour to get it in the format you are requesting.  But I can't guarantee you that it's there yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.


MR. VELLONE:  Just to preface this, I expect the responses to both of these undertakings will likely be filed in confidence and that there will be a confidentiality submission around those by the third party, to the extent any of the data is sensitive.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You mean like the rate of return?  Okay.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So looking at page 2 of the project agreement, the general terms, and particularly section 2.1, sub (a) there is a refers to two dates, one being the effective date and the other is the commencement date.  Presumably the effective date, I believe is defined in the definitions document, is the date the document is eventually signed.  Is that correct?


If we want to look at the definitions document, that is at appendix 12 to the interrogatory responses, page 11, the very top of the definitions on page 11.


Just up a little more, what means the date of this agreement.  So it would be -- the understanding is it is the date the agreement is signed?


MR. BREWER:  Correct.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Then the commencement date is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 3.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- on page 3 of the definitions, and -- oh, sorry.  It is the date on which the last of the conditions set out in section 2.1 have been satisfied or waived.


So it's the commencement date that I am interested in, because of the reference in section -- sorry, section 3.4, which is redacted.  I won't get into that now.  But the commencement date is after OEB approval of the ICM application, if the OEB is satisfied and does approve it.


So I just want to make sure that any provisions in this agreement that would result in costs for ratepayers would not be effective until after the OEB has approved it and that is from and after the commencement date?


MR. BREWER:  That's correct.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ljuba, do you mind if I ask my questions along the way or do --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No, that's fine, because it might reduce, you know, duplication.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the commencement date is the date that both of these two conditions in 2.1(a) have been met, OEB approval and consents of PUC secured lenders; is that right?


MR. BREWER:  So in 2.1(a) it certainly refers to approval by the OEB and consent by PUC's current secured lenders.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So who are those -- who has to consent under 2.1(a)(2)?


MR. BREWER:  Infrastructure Ontario.  And...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  And RBC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And RBC.  And neither of them have consented yet, right?


MR. BREWER:  So there have been initial discussions with both around what would be required.  The RBC one is the IESO guarantee.  So they -- there wasn't an issue from their end as long as the IESO guarantee remained in priority, and the discussion with IO would be subject to the final agreement and them having a look at the final agreement.  But the concept wasn't an issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason they have to consent is because under this deal you give a general security agreement to the lenders for the project company.  You give them a general security agreement for all of your assets, not just the new system, but all of your assets, right?


MR. BREWER:  So the security is one of the things that is still being negotiated, but in broad terms, there will be a security agreement, likely a GSA, and that is due to the fact that a lot of the components aren't separable.


So it's not like you could take an interest in a component and then in the event of default you pull the component out.  They would become integral to the system.


So the security on the system itself wouldn't be satisfactory to the current lender.  So in those discussions it was the current lender suggesting that pari passu type arrangement or something along those lines would be --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I know what pari passu means.  It is not a pari passu arrangement.  So it is everything, right?  It is all your assets they're asking for, right?


MR. BREWER:  No.  It is a pari passu.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Maybe we could refer -- because I have questions about this as well, and it is from the amended letter of agreement, which is Appendix 12, page 8, I believe.  Oh, no, hang on.  Yeah, but on page 8, very bottom, section 19, starts with "security".


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this 10 or 12?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It is Appendix 11.  Do you have that in front of you?  So I am just going to read -- this is the LOI, which we don't know -- it seems it has expired, but potentially another LOI with these kinds of terms will be introduced, and maybe some of these terms will be introduced in the project agreement, so that is why I have to go back and ask questions about this.


So it says:

"As security for its obligations to ProjectCo, PUC will grant to ProjectCo security interest in the UDM system and amounts collected from ratepayers relating thereto.  In this regard, PUC will provide ProjectCo: number 1, general security agreement whereby PUC will grant a security interest on all its present and future personal property; number 2, a debenture where PUC will grant a security interest in its real property; thirdly,  a block account agreement with PUC's banker; fourthly, a guarantee by the Corporation of the City of Sault Ste. Marie of the obligations of PUC under the project agreement."

Now, as Mr. Shepherd had started asking, you know, terms like a general security over all of the property of the utility, all of your real estate, this is quite extensive and does not appear to be typical for a P3 or project finance type of arrangement.


And so we would -- I guess we would like further clarification on whether the -- this type of clause is intended for whatever the ultimate project agreement as it is negotiated, we would like to know what PUC's creditors have to say about that.


Yes.  So can you undertake to find out more about the intention if we're going down this road of, you know, granting a third party...


MR. BREWER:  As I think I indicated to Mr. Shepherd, the security discussions are ongoing and this is not relevant to where we currently are.


So the debenture, as an example, block account agreement and the guarantee from the city are all things that are currently not in discussions or being required.


With respect to a GSA, my -- the latest discussions we have had is a pari passu arrangement with the current secured lender.


So I don't know that -- other than what I just said, I don't know that there is anything else to undertake.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, I think that there is -- and this may be a question for your counsel and maybe for IE or whoever drafted -- their counsel, whoever drafted these documents, you know, how that all fits together, you know, what is the intention, what is the understanding?  What is the security that PUC is expected to give?  And what -- and what it will agree on, you know, and what the creditor's views are on that.


MR. BREWER:  I think I just answered that with respect to the general security agreement on a pari passu arrangement.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yeah, we would like an update.  Like, I don't -- because at this point the security section of the project agreement is different from what is in the letter of intent.  So we don't know what, you know, prevails.


The project agreement...


MR. SHEPHERD:  section 5.  Page 50.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, I am lost between the LOI and --


Well, in any event -- okay, yes, page 8, section 3.6 of the project agreement.  It is in the redacted version.  It's all blacked out, so we won't get into specifics of it.


But I just want -- and compared to -- just looking at the text here, which is one line, and the provisions in the letter of intent, I mean, can you confirm that the project agreement does not contain the provisions with respect to security that is in the amended letter of intent?


MR. BREWER:  The project agreement does not contain the full security that is represented in the letter of intent, as I had indicated, Subsection 2, 3 -- or sub-paras 2, 3, and 4 aren't being contemplated at this point.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, Subsections 2, 3, and 4 of the LOI are not being contemplated but Subsection 1 still is?


MR. BREWER:  General security agreement.  The assets of PUC in a parri pasu arrangement with the current secured lender is the contemplated security at this point.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is there a document that would confirm this understanding as to the extent of the GSA?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.  The completed project agreement would have that in it, and we can file a completed project agreement as soon as it is finished.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, which completed project agreement?


MR. VELLONE:  There is not a document, Ljuba.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm sorry?


MR. VELLONE:  There is not a document.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  There isn't, okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, actually there is a document.


MR. VELLONE:  This section is still under negotiation is basically the reason for the redaction.  I don't know what document you referred to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The lenders' remedies agreement, schedule 10, that has been drafted, right?


MR. BREWER:  I can't say that it has, but I think we have undertook to provide the schedules, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know whether there is a document currently in draft that has the security arrangements?


MR. BREWER:  The security arrangements are still under negotiation with respect to the parameters that I think I just outlined.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So the document or -- sorry, is there a document that indicates that the security arrangement is pari passu, and that is what the lenders have agreed to?


MR. BREWER:  The final security arrangement is not completed.  The negotiations between Infrastructure Ontario and the proposed lender with respect to a pari passu arrangement have been discussed.  They haven't been finalized.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that is only Infrastructure Ontario.  That has nothing to with the city.  It has nothing to do with the charge against your lands.


So there must be some document somewhere that deals with the fact that, as you say, you are no longer contemplating putting a debenture against your lands, and you are no longer contemplating a guarantee from the city.  Is there no document that says that?


MR. BREWER:  I don't think there is a document that would say that until the security arrangements are complete, right, which is what we're saying.  The current status, I tried to give you an update on and that is what appears to be acceptable is the pari passu arrangement.


The IESO secured lender with RBC would still remain in first-ranking priority.  Then the remaining two would have a pari passu arrangement with respect to the GSA.  There was no other security that is currently offered by PUC, that is contemplated being offered by PUC.  And we have no intent to grant or request from the city, for an example, a guarantee over this.


That isn't something we are contemplating at this point, and it is not something we could contemplate going forward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You signed a letter of intent that said you would give all of those things.


So at some point, you did contemplate those things.  And in fact I would ask the question:  Did the city know that you agreed to that?


MR. BREWER:  So at some point, the letter of intent was signed and the subsequent project agreement, which is the definitive agreement here, won't have that in it.


So I am not sure how to walk you through the rest of it because I wasn't involved in all of it, and I don't know that the people that were are at the table today.


But what I can tell you is that when we're looking at the current project agreement, there was currently no contemplation for a guarantee from the city and there is no contemplation for any other security, other than a pari passu arrangement on the GSA.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Faught, look, the utility agreed with the promoter that it would provide a whole bunch of security for the project.


At some point, somebody had to tell the promoter, or whoever, or their lender, we're not going to give you all of that stuff.  How did that happen, who did it, and why?


MR. BREWER:  So as part of the negotiations that we've had on an ongoing basis for the last year and a half, security has been a big topic and one of the things we have insisted on is we wouldn't contemplate any of those things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So as part of these negotiations, are there documents that, you know, indicate this exchange between the lenders and PUC and anybody else affected that would, you know, show us that this is the discussion and the agreement?


MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  Look at 3.6 of the project agreement that has been filed.  That shows you what the contemplated security and the current state of negotiations --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I understand that, that is still a draft agreement and we still have a LOI that was signed.  So we don't know what the final project agreement is going to look like.  We would just like some comfort that the kinds of provisions that were in the amended LOI are not going to, in some form, find their way into the project agreement.  And we would like to not spend time at this oral hearing.  It is really kind of a --


MR. VELLONE:  I think Mr. Brewer gave you the comfort you're asking for.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  He gave me his testimony, which is trustworthy I am sure.  But, you know, there is a reference to some negotiations and some back and forth on this.  By his own statements this is a big topic.


So, you know, I understand that there may be confidentiality aspects to this, and we can deal with that accordingly.  But it just seems that there is some back and forth and we would just like it clear on the record that this is not something that is going to find its way into the next version of the project agreement.


MR. VELLONE:  Can you...


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I have heard that Infrastructure Ontario is involved, the bank is involved.  Are there emails, letters?


MR. BREWER:  There was a question of who the secured lenders were, and we have identified who the lenders were.  We have identified that one is the IESO guarantee, so that would rank in priority.  We have indicated that the current number 2 through, I think, number 6 is the same lender, which is IO, and that is for things like building, some capital improvements, and things like that that were done, and that there are ongoing discussions between Infrastructure Ontario and us, and the potential future lender as to what that security would look like.


That security will be in the next agreement in the final stages, and it will involve nothing more than a general security agreement with a pari passu arrangement based on our current understanding.  There will be no guarantee from the city.  There will be no debenture.  What was the third one?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Again, these discussions, these are just verbal?  There is no correspondence on this topic?


MR. BREWER:  And no block account.  They were discussions that were over the phone.  There is discussions between counsels.  We have instructed our counsel.  They have talked to their counsel.  I don't think any of that would end up on the record here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't need any of that stuff, as long as -- obviously if the Board is concerned about it, they're going to make it a condition that you not do those things.


But I wanted to just clarify something.  Mr. Vellone says 3.6 deals with security.  It doesn't.  It is blocked out and it doesn't actually deal with what we're talking about, does it?


MR. VELLONE:  So I think if you refer to the confidential version that is filed, you can --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at it right now.  It doesn't refer to this at all, zero.  You can look if you like.


MR. BREWER:  So the current arrangement with respect to security was under negotiation, remains under negotiation, and I have given you the framework of where we are with respect to those negotiations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  3.6 doesn't deal with it, right?


MR. BREWER:  I think it does.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have the confidential version.  Read it.  It is one line.  It doesn't deal with this.


Furthermore, 3.4(b) doesn't deal with it either, the other blacked-out thing.  Isn't that right?


I just don't want to waste a lot of time talking about this as if it is hidden over the black stuff; it's not.  The only place in the project agreement that this is dealt with is in section 5 and the Lenders' Remedy Agreement, right?


MR. BREWER:  I am not sure I would agree with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then show me where it is.


MR. BREWER:  It is in the confidential documents that were filed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at the confidential documents.  Show me where.


MR. BREWER:  I don't think we are in camera, are we?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just tell me where it is.  It's not confidential where it is.


MR. VELLONE:  You don't have to cite the content of the provision to point him to a provision.  Does that make sense?  You are just telling him where to look, not what is in there.


MR. BREWER:  So the final version of the security arrangement will be in section 3.6.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it won't.


MR. BREWER:  Okay.  Well...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am reading it.


MR. BREWER:  Are we on the same document?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is one line.  You couldn't possibly say that has anything to do with PUC giving security to anyone, isn't that right?


MR. BREWER:  Perhaps we're reading something different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are.  What you filed, this is the red line, right?  Which you said is not on the record.


MR. VELLONE:  It is still filed confidentially, but you have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is what you filed, right?  Does that have anything to do with PUC giving security to ProjectCo?  No?


MR. VELLONE:  Too much got deleted.  This is what this provision is supposed to deal with, right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, apparently not.  You made that confidential.


MR. VELLONE:  They made that confidential.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Well, I don't need to go further into this.  I trust that if there is any change from the evidence we have heard from Mr. Brewer today that there will be an update to the evidence.


And I guess we will see when we get the schedules to the project agreement what Schedule 10 and lenders' remedies provides for.


So moving along in the project agreement, which is a slower paced than I expected, but the page 10 deals with the services part of the project, section 4.3 on page 10.  There is reference to the service provider, which according to the definitions -- you can check it if you want, but it is indicated that it is PUC Services.  Do you agree with that?


MR. BREWER:  One second.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What section are you looking at?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  4.3 of the project agreement.  You agree that PUC Services, the affiliate of PUC Distribution, will be providing services to ProjectCo?


MR. BREWER:  So PUC Services would be the service provider that is contemplated here, correct.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So there will -- or maybe you have a draft already -- have an agreement between ProjectCo and service provider.  Possibly this is one of the schedules to the project agreement, but it will be produced, possibly Schedule 4, which is just titled "services".  If it's not one of these, like if it's a separate document, can we have that -- get that filed?


MR. BREWER:  I think Schedule 4 refers to what would be provided, but we will certainly provide that as part of the undertaking.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, thanks.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a question about that one?  So PUC Services is going to provide services to the project company, right?  That's correct?


MR. BREWER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you agree that PUC Services will still be subject to the Affiliate Relationships Code with respect to those services, even though they're not providing them directly to PUC Distribution?


MR. VELLONE:  I don't think I have had that conversation with them yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to advise whether ARC would still apply to the services provided by PUC Services even though they're being provided through ProjectCo?


MR. VELLONE:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JTC1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.5:  TO ADVISE WHETHER ARC WOULD STILL APPLY TO THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY PUC SERVICES EVEN THOUGH THEY'RE BEING PROVIDED THROUGH PROJECTCO.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, looking at it again, still, the section 4.3 on page 10 of the project agreement.  And the third line down, about mid-sentence, it says:

"ProjectCo shall have no liability to PUC in respect of the performance of the services by the service provider, and the service provider shall be solely responsible for its performance of any services pursuant to its services agreement with ProjectCo."

And I want to compare that -- so it seems like there is sort of this exclusion of liability when it comes to services provider, which is PUC Services.  And compare that to section 4.6, which is the next page over, which provides that:

"ProjectCo will be responsible for acts, omissions, breaches, defaults, et cetera, of each ProjectCo person."

Now, ProjectCo person -- if we need to look at the definitions, it includes everybody and would include services provider.


But there is this section 4.3, which seems to exclude any responsibility of ProjectCo for the actions of PUC Services, and I guess the question is, when services provider PUC Services is working for ProjectCo, it seems that -- it's not seems that, it is right in the LOI -- that ProjectCo will oversee services that are provided by PUC Services.


So it seems like, you know, ProjectCo is directing the services they would in the ordinary course be responsible for them.  But in this agreement we have them specifically carved out as not -- ProjectCo isn't responsible for what PUC Services does.  That is going to be on the parent company or PUC Services shareholder, I'm not sure.


Anyways, I just wanted to sort of point that out, because the question goes to the transfer of risk, which is supposed to be one of the benefits of doing a P3 project and, yet here is sort of an example where the risk of the services is not being transferred to ProjectCo.  It is hived off and will land likely at the door of PUC Distribution or its parent company or, you know, affiliate.


So it's a very sort of long-winded preamble, but I guess the question is, what is the -- is there any benefit to this kind of -- like, is there any risk transfer benefit of this type of arrangement?


MR. BREWER:  So the challenge for ProjectCo is to the fact that it is PUC Services that is the provider.  If it was any other service provider, then it would be pretty straightforward.  The fact that it's PUC Services, which is where all of our employees are because of the shared services model, so it is in effect the folks that are looking after the contract and administering it on behalf of PUC Distribution are also at the end of the day the service provider.  That is what has created the complexity here.


This is not the final wording of this.  I think these two that are this contrast have been highlighted and are part of some ongoing discussions, so I think we have seen the same thing that you have.


And I think the future state of these clauses will look something like PUC Services has a contract with ProjectCo to deliver.  ProjectCo will remain in the contract to deliver distribution, but we agree with you that these highlighted clauses need some revision.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yeah, and I am glad you get my point and it doesn't seem pedantic, because the point of this type of P3, it is called design, build, finance, maintain, operate, transfer, DBFMOT type of arrangement, at least according to the letter of intent.


But, you know, if you are going to take parts of that package, such as service or maintenance, and switch it, you know, back to the owner, the infrastructure owner, like PUC Distribution, then one needs to reconsider, well, you know, what is the price that is being paid, what is the premium that is being paid for the private entity to take on all of these aspects.  Are they really taking on all six aspects of the P3 project, or are they only taking on five or four or whichever.


So that is the question about, you know, the, you know, the provision of services.  You know, is this something that ultimately it's just going to end up with PUC Distribution?  PUC Services?  And if so, then how that is reflected in the contract and the other arrangements.


MR. VELLONE:  So we are talking in circles, so I'm going to try to put some meat on this.


Can you please explain to the parties in the room roughly what the scope of service is that the owner -- what I am calling the owner.  It is PUC Services -- is undertaking and why it is necessary for PUC Services to do that?


MR. BREWER:  Okay, fair enough.


MR. VELLONE:  So you can understand what they're doing.


MR. BREWER:  So the PUC Services will have a couple of different roles.  It will have a role during construction, and it will have a role for the maintenance function post-construction.


During the construction phase, because of our collective agreement, there are certain things that need to be done by PUC unionized staff; for example, pole replacements or adding infrastructure poles, or things to do with our existing infrastructure. And PUC Services will be performing those services as a result of that.


On an ongoing basis, the maintenance on the equipment that is installed.  So maintenance schedules for the switches, et cetera, will be done by PUC Services.


As a result of, you know -- and so I think what ProjectCo is trying to say is it is very difficult for them to hold PUC Services accountable.  And so that is where this language is working, where there will be some variation to these two clauses to meet what you have highlighted, and has already been highlighted for us.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will come back to that a bit later -- oh, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask some questions?  So I have a couple of questions.


First on the ongoing services, on page 7 of your presentation to the city last summer, it is headed up "Monthly costs."  The pages aren't numbered, but it is the seventh one.


It says that you are paying $62,487 indexed to inflation per month to a Project Company to maintain the UDM system, right?  Do you see where I am referring to?


MR. BREWER:  I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the question was -- so you are you going to pay to Project Company $62,487 for maintenance of the system, right?  About 700...


MR. BREWER:  So the numbers that were given to the city contemplated, as you can see, a slightly different arrangement because it was pre-NRCan funding announcement and funding award.  And so the numbers that are in here don't contemplate the scope of the NRCan funding.


So there is mention of NRCan coming, but it hadn't been awarded yet.  NRCan was awarded in December, December of 2018, and with that came, you know, some revision to the mechanics of it.  Certainly the numbers represented the similar scope, but some of it was more capital, some of it was less maintenance, that type of thing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what are the new numbers?


MR. BREWER:  I'm sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  What are the new numbers?


MR. BREWER:  The new numbers are what would be contemplated in some of those financial models we've agreed to provide to you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't you just tell us what they are?  You know what they are, right?


MR. BREWER:  I don't have them in front of me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You can't remember them?  This is the biggest project in your company's history, and you can't remember what the numbers are?


MR. BREWER:  I would like to be accurate with you, so how about I get you the exact numbers?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Will you undertake to refile those numbers current, please?


MR. VELLONE:  So just so I am going to get this on the transcript, we are looking at the presentation that is attached to Exhibit KTC1.1.  It is the slide titled "monthly costs" and the request is to update this table to reflect the more current information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  In fact, what you should do really -- maybe it would be helpful is to just update all of the numbers in the presentation.


Anyway, my question is --


MR. VELLONE:  Let's get that marked.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is JTC1.6. 


MR. VELLONE:  Are you okay with the balance of that question, all of the other numbers in the presentation?


MR. BREWER:  A lot of them are based on efficiency gain, impact on-bill, on stuff that is a different number.  So I don't know that it makes a lot of sense because it is based on the 18 million, not on the 22 million dollars.


MR. VELLONE:  Can we do it?


MR. BREWER:  We can, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Most of them will not change.  But for example, the project proposal is no longer 18.5 million, right?


MR. BREWER:  So the original project that we took to the city was contemplating some provincial funding.  The provincial funding did not materialize, so the numbers are different and that is sort of what I am indicating.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just while I have you on this -- sorry I am taking you down a rat hole, but since we're there.


So I thought the latest approval of the city was this July 2018 approval.  Is there a later one?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So I think the last full proposal that went to the city was this.  Certainly we have done an annual shareholder report, that we just did in fact this week, that talked to some of the project.  But I don't think it talked to numbers.


But the request to the city as the shareholder was for approval to spend more than $10 million on the project and it wasn't -- there wasn't anything specific in that resolution, I believe, on the exact number.  But perhaps you've got something different.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Anyway, you will agree to update these?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So...


MR. SHEPHERD:  We need an undertaking number.  I still haven't got to my question yet.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That was JTC1.6, to update all numbers on the slide. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.6:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED VERSION OF THE SLIDE ENTITLED "MONTHLY COSTS" ATTACHED TO EXHIBIT KTC1.1


MR. SHEPHERD:  So whatever that maintenance number is, which here is 62,487 but it will be some new number, right -- 750 a year, let's say -- but whatever it is, does all of that go to services?  Or does some of it stick with ProjectCo?


MR. BREWER:  So to the extent that there are costs incurred by ProjectCo for things like software or that type of thing, that would be contemplated in the final agreement as to who would be covering things like maintenance fees.  Some things like that might be included in a ProjectCo hold.


But we will get you the specifics.  We have done the analysis on the OM&A costs going forward and all the rest of it.  I think we I included some of that in the material, but we can walk you through that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I would like to know is the --following up on this question of whether ProjectCo has any responsibility for the services -- which the agreement in its current form says, which obviously could change.  But the agreement currently says ProjectCo has no responsibility for the services.


So then the question is, well, how much are they getting?  How much MOP are they getting to take no responsibility?


And so we will want to know what that flow through is.  How much are you paying for maintenance?  How much is services getting?  And how much is sticking in between and what are you getting for it?  Can you do that?


MR. BREWER:  I think that would be part of that financial model that we spoke to earlier, so yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, it will be in the financial model.


MR. BREWER:  I believe it is in the financial model.


MS. GIRVAN:  Jay, can I interject?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MS. GIRVAN:  CCC number 5 is an interrogatory that we asked.  And it says the evidence states in the first quarter of 2014, the city passed a resolution supporting the concept of developing a smart grid PUC service territory.


So my question was:  When did the city council last review this project, and what were the overall project costs submitted at that time?


And it says at the bottom of that answer:  

"This project and project costs were not specifically presented to city council."

MR. BREWER:  I think that was part of the correction we supplied the -- the presentation.


MS. GIRVAN:  Is that why you filed this today?


MR. BREWER:  I think it is part of the filing of the presentation.


MS. GIRVAN:  It doesn't reference that answer.  That's why I was asking.


MR. VELLONE:  I think what they're trying to say is that these numbers that went to city council were wrong.  They're not the same as the numbers in the application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So city council has never seen these numbers?  The ones in the application, city council has never seen them?


MR. BREWER:  I don't think that city council has weighed in on the final version of where it's currently at.  But they have approved the project as the shareholder.  I think we provided the shareholder resolution to that effect.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, your shareholders' agreement or declaration requires that any capital expenditure over $10 million must be approved by the city, right?


So this is a $24 million capital expenditure that's not been approved by the city, right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So then Appendix 8, the resolution of the shareholder, as you will see, it says:

"Whereas the PUC Inc. and PUC Services Board has submitted a smart grid proposal as presented on June 26, 2018, subject to the following conditions precedent: federal, provincial funding approved greater than 9 million, shareholder approving the project; OEB approval for the first of two consecutive ICMs in place; whereas PUC Inc. and PUC Services Inc. board is required to seek shareholder approval for a single capital expenditure in excess of 5 million or any capital expenditure in aggregate in excess of 10 million, an approval decision is now being requested for the smart grid proposal by the shareholder; Be it resolved that the shareholder approves the smart grid proposal as presented, subject to the following remaining conditions precedent:, federal, provincial funding approved greater than 9 million and OEB approval for the first of two consecutive ICMs in place."

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you never told the city that it's going to be 24, not 18 and a half or whatever it is.  23 or 18 and a half, something like that.


MR. BREWER:  So when we presented it we presented possible funding, and as you can see in the resolution under the first bullet, they have required that there be federal or provincial funding approved greater than 9 million for them to approve this project.


So we have met that criteria, because there is $11.8 million in federal funding.  So we have met their resolution.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the project as presented was a net cost of $18.5 million.  That is what they have approved.


MR. BREWER:  No, I think I just read to you the shareholder resolution --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have read lots of shareholder resolutions, and that one says "as presented."


MR. BREWER:  The project itself.  So what they're referring to is what we're planning on doing, subject to there being federal, provincial funding greater than 9 million, and we have met that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just a time check.  We are now at one o'clock, and my next questions are kind of going into a section that is probably best to kind of keep together on return on equity and debt.


So do people want to take a break now or...


I see some nodding of heads.  Okay.  Yes, and the reporter, which is most important.


[Laughter]


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So let's come back at two o'clock.  Good?  All right.  Thanks.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:03 p.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Welcome back, everyone.


MS. GIRVAN:  Ljuba, can I just ask a clarification question?  I am trying to understand, and this might help me.


We saw the document earlier about the presentation to the city, and it talks about lease payments.  So you've got lease payments, but at the same time, who owns the assets?  That's what I am confused about.  And are these assets going into your rate base for the purposes of determining rates?


MR. BREWER:  So it's the lease payment that is identified in the document that went to the city was an earlier version of the financing arrangement.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. BREWER:  The current contemplation is that at the end of each fiscal year, the assets that are live would be put into and transferred over to the utility.


MS. GIRVAN:  So they would go into your rate base?


MR. BREWER:  Go into the rate base and they become the property owned by the utility.


MS. GIRVAN:  So you are not doing a leasing arrangement any more?


MR. BREWER:  Correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. BREWER:  There are a few other things that are different on that arrangement, too; the indexing is one.  If you look at the project agreement on indexing, it is different than the slide deck.  The slide deck contemplates indexing and the project agreement specifically says they're not indexed.


MS. GIRVAN:  So there is no indexing?


MR. BREWER:  3.1 refers to that.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just picking up --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I was going to follow up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the last part of 3.1 is no longer confidential, if you are going to talk about it?  Everything after "over the term of this agreement".  I don't even know what is in the redacted portion, but I am just going to go look.


MR. VELLONE:  Hold on, guys.  So the statement the witness just made is actually the redacted information in the agreement.


Can I ask that the exchange in this transcript be put -- it needs to be taken out of the record, out of transcript, and put in a separate one until the Board makes a decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think you have already made it public.  You can't claim confidentiality on that anymore.


MS. GIRVAN:  On what?


MR. SHEPHERD:  On what the witness said, because once you state publicly -- I mean, we're on air, right?  You don't know who is listening to it.  So once it is said, it is not confidential any more.


So the next paragraph, as far as I am concerned, can stay confidential until the Board makes a determination.  But the last sentence of the previous paragraph, it seems to me, cannot be.


MR. VELLONE:  I think we just conceded.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, the note, since it is inconsistent with what the witness said, probably has to be on the record.  The one -- if you look at the redactions, you have a redaction at the end of the first paragraph, the full next paragraph, and then one line.  And that one line after that I think also refers to what you just talked about.


MR. BREWER:  I have a heck of a time reconciling the two because they're different.  I'm not sure what you are referring to.


MR. VELLONE:  I think I'm aware.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you disagree, Mr. Vellone?


MR. VELLONE:  No, I think you are correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So only the second paragraph then remains with a claim for confidentiality.  Fair?  Okay.  Did you say yes, or not?


MR. VELLONE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I am going back to the project agreement and turning to page 5, which is the section, the general obligations, in particular section 3.1, monthly payments.


The part I am interested in there is -- I will just read this from section 3.1, starting at about the third sentence, very last -- the end of the third line.

"The monthly payments will be fixed as set out in schedule 8.  The payments will be sufficient to, one, amortize design construction provisioning and services costs", et cetera, et cetera, and "two, pay a return on equity/debt to ProjectCo over the term of this agreement."

So with respect to the equity and debt, is it still the case that the project is to be financed by both debt and equity?  Or is it going to just be debt, because the application stated that it would be financed by 25-year debt financing?  Can you clarify?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  My understanding is it is debt financing.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Only debt, and no equity investment?  Okay.


MR. VELLONE:  Do you know that for sure?  This is the project company's financing, not yours.


MR. BREWER:  Are you talking about Project Company, or are you talking about -- you said from the application, which is our application.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, the monthly payments that PUC will be paying to ProjectCo is intended to cover ProjectCo's -- all of the costs in ProjectCo, which includes its return on equity and/or debt ProjectCo has incurred.


MR. VELLONE:  She is asking about ProjectCo.


MR. BREWER:  But there was a reference to the application, I think, which was us.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, the application said that the project will be financed by 25-year debt financing.


MR. BREWER:  Right.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So...


MR. BREWER:  I can speak to PUC.  I can't speak to what the percentages are within ProjectCo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So with respect to PUC, is it all debt?


MR. BREWER:  So PUC isn't putting any equity in place and they're paying -- we're paying a monthly financing payment going forward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that monthly financing payment, that monthly payment is calculated as if it's a payment on debt?  It is like an amortization of the cost?


MR. BREWER:  My understanding is it's based on a return on equity, similar to the way that an asset is going into rate base would be, where there is a deemed 40 percent equity and 60 percent debt piece.


I think the return paid for the project to ProjectCo is similar to that.  But I don't know what the actual equity in debt is.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So let me just clarify, because there were a number of questions that Staff asked in interrogatories about these details and the response was that this is a turnkey project.  PUC has no knowledge about it.  And the fact of the matter is this is a cost that is going to be recovered from ratepayers, so it is relevant.  And PUC either needs to obtain the information about these aspects of what the monthly payments are made up of, or we will -- and we likely will at an oral hearing need to hear that evidence from IE.


So that said, I am going to just go through the questions and then I will just ask for undertakings, if you don't know the answer.


So what information does PUC have about the debt financing that ProjectCo is incurring to finance the project?


MR. BREWER:  We're not privy to ProjectCo's financing arrangements.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, let's look at Staff 31, and in your response to Staff 31 you provided plenty of information about IE's financing.


So let's talk about the equity side.  I am going to ask for an undertaking, just talking about the debt portion, for PUC to enquire of IE with respect -- whether there is any debt financing that it is incurring to invest in the project and, if so, to provide details about that, including the name of the lender, terms of the loan, the rate of interest, and any other relevant details.  Can you provide that undertaking?


MR. VELLONE:  One moment.  For the sake of clarity, the undertaking is to ask them --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  If they don't have the information themselves, then they can obtain it from IE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  I would have thought the undertaking is provide information on how this project is going to be financed.  Or say you can't.  That is, not ask IE, but find the information.  Find out who is going to lend the money, on what terms.  Copies of term sheets, all of that stuff, or say you can't do it.


MR. BREWER:  So with respect to financing, I would ask you to turn into the project agreement in Section 5, 5.1.


So:

"ProjectCo has the right to finance or refinance a portion of its business with the consent of PUC provided that any such financing or refinancing arrangements are in respect of the performance of its obligations under this agreement and shall not result in any additional or increased costs, et cetera."

So that was the diligence we thought we required with respect to the turnkey operation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what about the lender's remedies agreement?  What about the security you are providing?  You are not just -- you're not just hands-off.  The lenders are -- the only covenant that is worth anything is the PUC -- the LDCs' covenant.  The lenders don't care what ProjectCo says, because it doesn't have any money.  You have assets.


MR. BREWER:  Sorry, so what was the question?


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, no, I am -- I am challenging your answer.  Your answer said, well, we don't know anything.  Well, yeah, except that you are the borrower.  To all intents and purposes, for all practical purposes, you are the borrower, because you are providing the security, and you are granting the remedies to the lender.  Those are the things that matter.  It is your covenant that has value.


MR. BREWER:  Right.  So the security that we are providing is that we would continue to make the payments under the agreement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And by the way, you can have a GSA on our assets.


MR. BREWER:  And they're agreeing that there wouldn't be any additional or increased costs or liability for PUC in relation to additional financing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're not going to provide any security.


MR. BREWER:  Additional security?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know.


MR. BREWER:  Again, I am not sure what the question is.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Let's go back -- I am going to really try to sort of go step by step and break it down.  And so the first question is, the statement was that there would be debt financing involved.  And this is monies that PUC is going to recover from its ratepayers, whether it is through ProjectCo or otherwise, it is ultimately paid by the ratepayers.  So we do need to look into the prudence of this debt.


So if there is debt -- and my request for undertaking is just for you to obtain this information from IE -- if Mr. Shepherd wants to make a more, you know, compulsory -- the request a more compulsory action from you, he can do that.  But my request is that you obtain the information from IE as to any debt financing that is involved with this project and to provide all details.  Lender name, term sheets.  Everything relevant.


MR. VELLONE:  So I think we're way off base.  So whenever Hydro One in transmission cases does a major TS upgrade, they enter into an agreement with someone like Valard to do the actual work.  It is never the case that the Board engages in an inquiry as to how Valard is financed for the purposes of that EPC arrangement.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, with all due respect, this is not a question of, you know, well, they're just hiring Black & Veatch to do this work and, you know, how Black & Veatch is going to carry out that, that's their business.


Now, this is a very specific, very unique structure, and that is the P3 structure and the special-purpose vehicle.  And it is complex.  And there is a total lack of transparency, but ultimately they are costs that the ratepayer is paying.


So if you want to make, you know, some submissions about the confidentiality of any of this information, PUC and IE can do that, but I would like an undertaking that this information will be obtained and provided.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can comment on that.  You are confusing two different types of financing, John.  You are right, nobody asks questions about the construction financing, because it is assumed that the covenant of the person getting the work done is sufficient to cover the construction lenders' risk.


This is not a construction financing.  This is an ongoing financing for 25 years.  And, yes, the Board does ask how is OPG, how is Hydro One, how is everybody else financing their business for 25 years.  And if they were going out and borrowing at 9 percent, the Board would have something to say about it.


So you can refuse to provide financing details, but if you do, we will take the position that the Board doesn't know that you can get the money and, therefore, you can't have approval.  And the Board will agree with that.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just to move along.  Do you want to give that undertaking?  Or do you want to refuse it, and if you reconsider you can answer.


MR. VELLONE:  I think there is a willingness to ask, if I heard that correctly?  I don't know what type of answer we can get.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, my question was, initially was to ask.  But then it is to obtain the information.  Make best efforts, if that is what -- and if you are not able to obtain it or IE refuses to provide it then indicate that and any reasons that are provided for refusing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This, of course, is one of the reasons why Staff and SEC wanted Mr. Martin here.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So moving on.


MR. VELLONE:  Can we get that one marked?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, JTC1.7. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.7:  TO ENQUIRE OF IE WHETHER THERE IS ANY DEBT FINANCING THAT IT IS INCURRING TO INVEST IN THE PROJECT AND, IF SO, TO PROVIDE DETAILS ABOUT THAT, INCLUDING THE NAME OF THE LENDER, TERMS OF THE LOAN, THE RATE OF INTEREST, AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT DETAILS.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So with respect to equity investment in ProjectCo to finance a project, my questions are the same.  Well, some information was already provided in response to Staff IR 31.  We can turn to that now.  Staff 31a.  And third sentence in the response to (a) state:

"The equity capital shall consist of, one, institutional investment funds managed by a joint venture consisting of Diode Ventures and affiliated Black & Veatch and Alma Global Infrastructure LLC; and two, IE as the original developer."


So turning to each one of these.  Diode, Diode is an affiliate; Black & Veatch, presumably provides financing for them.  Is that your understanding?


MR. BREWER:  That's correct.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And what information do you have about the investment that Diode is making in terms of quantum, terms?  Does PUC have any information about that?


MR. BREWER:  That Diode is in particular doing?  I think that is the same question you just asked me.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Then I will ask an undertaking for that as well, and that is to make best efforts to obtain information from IE with respect to the equity investment by Diode Ventures LLC and that -- do you agree to that undertaking?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  To make best efforts to obtain the information.


MR. VELLONE:  Yes, go ahead and mark it.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JTC1.8. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.8:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO OBTAIN INFORMATION FROM IE WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUITY INVESTMENT BY DIODE VENTURES LLC.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Similarly with respect to the equity investment of Alma, what does PUC know about this entity?


MR. BREWER:  It is an infrastructure investment fund.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Did you have a chance to Google them, like on the Internet?  What did you find out about them?


MR. BREWER:  We have spoken with them and had numerous calls.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, you have.  So can I -- similar undertaking requested, to make best efforts to obtain information from IE as to the equity investment by Alma Global Infrastructure LLC, again details as to amounts invested, terms or a term sheet, any documents related to that investment.  Do I have that undertaking?


MR. VELLONE:  Can we just roll it into the previous one?  It is kind of the same one.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am trying to keep things simple by having them separate, because there may be reasons that certain things are available or not.


MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Go ahead, mark it.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JTC1.8. (sic) 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.9:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO OBTAIN INFORMATION FROM IE WITH RESPECT TO THE EQUITY INVESTMENT BY ALMA GLOBAL INFRASTRUCTURE


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just follow up on Alma?  Do you mind?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Go ahead.


MR. SHEPHARD:  So what due diligence did you do on Alma Global Infrastructure?  Did you check if they have any money?


MR. BREWER:  I don't think we have a report on anything, but we have had numerous discussions and our counsel had looked into discussions with their counsel, et cetera.  But I don't think there was any red flags that caused us to do anything further.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't check, for example, to find out they don't actually have an office?  Or that they don't have any employees?


MR. BREWER:  I can't speak to what they do or don't have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't do any due diligence is what I'm saying.


MR. BREWER:  I just explained what we did do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So nothing.


MR. BREWER:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I spent a half hour and I found out they don't have an office.  I spent a half hour, and found out they don't have any employees.  I am not sure I understand.  What did you do?


MR. BREWER:  I think I just indicated that we had our attorney look into them in terms of discussions with their attorneys, and he was satisfied and there was nothing that caused a red flag.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have some information that they have money, or access to money?


MR. BREWER:  With respect to like a report or something?  What is it you are looking for?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking for whether you investigated whether the people that IE said will provide the tens of millions of dollars here actually have any money, because they don't.  So I am asking what investigations did you do to find that out.


MR. BREWER:  I think I just answered your question with respect to having our attorney do some enquiries and no red flags came up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your attorney has provided you some sort of report saying, yes, this is a legit company that can provide the money?


MR. BREWER:  I think I just said there wasn't a report, that there weren't any red flags.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So not having an office is not a red flag for a financial company?


MR. BREWER:  I don't know that it is, and I don't know that it isn't.


MR. VELLONE:  I don't understand why the question is focussing only on Alma when the evidence is that it's a joint venture consisting of an affiliate of Black & Veatch and Alma.  And -- shouldn't the question be does Black & Veatch have any money?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, because Diode Ventures in fact does the construction financing part of Black & Veatch projects.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I will get to it later when we talk about the ownership of the ProjectCo.  So, you know, whoever is investing is getting paid a dividend or some kind of payment.


So, you know, it's important for us to know that there is actual value that is going in, in consideration for which parties or shareholders, whatever are being paid out.


But just going back to the response of Staff 31a, so we identified two -- the response identified two sources of equity.  One was the joint venture of Diode and Alma, and secondly it was IE as the original developer.


So a similar question:  What was IE's contribution in the form of equity?  Do you have that information?


MR. BREWER:  I think it is the same answer to the question I gave you earlier.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This question will be to obtain the information, to obtain information from IE with respect to its equity investment in ProjectCo, provide details and documents, in particular amounts that are supposedly invested and the terms of the investment.  Do I have that undertaking?


MR. BREWER:  Yes, you do.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is JTC1.9.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was 1.10.


MR. VELLONE:  I think we're at 1.10.  1.8 was Diode, 1.9 was Alma, and 1.10 is IE.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Right you are.  

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.10:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS AND DOCUMENTS, IN PARTICULAR AMOUNTS THAT ARE SUPPOSEDLY INVESTED IN PROJECTCO AND THE TERMS OF THE INVESTMENT


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we add to 1.10, or maybe as a separate one, I don't know.  Can you provide financial statements for IE?  Can you ask them to provide them?


MR. BREWER:  I am not sure of the relevance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because if nobody has any money, then the ratepayers are on the hook.


MR. BREWER:  The ratepayers are on the hook?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You look around this deal, nobody has any money except you.  And you means us.


MR. BREWER:  Black & Veatch.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Black & Veatch is not taking any responsibility.  They're just getting paid.


MR. BREWER:  Through their financing arm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we will see how much they're providing.  It won't be a lot.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It was likely that Diode is the financing arm of Black & Veatch, and is paying to finance the construction work, and that's...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or some of it.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Or some of it, yes.  The question of Mr. Shepherd was to provide IE's financial statements, I believe.


MR. BREWER:  Yes.  I don't know that that is a reasonable expectation for us to ask --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not willing to ask them?  So you are refusing to ask them?


MR. BREWER:  I can ask if they would like to provide them.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- enquire of IE whether they would provide financial statements.  That is JTC1.11. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.11:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE IE'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just going back to -- since we don't know if there is a mix of debt and equity or what exactly it is made up of, probably these questions will have to be by way of undertaking as well.  And it is about which stages of the project are to be funded by which kind of funding.


And the reason I ask is because in the P3 structure, there is a demarcation between financing that makes sense at the construction phase versus financing that is done at the operations phase.


So for example, the -- you know, the first money is kind of the hardest, which is the equity and that typically ifs to the construction.  Afterwards, once something is complete and operational, then you might get bondholders involved and, you know, lower cost funding.


So does PUC have any information about that, as to what types of funding would be coming into ProjectCo at which phases of the project?


MR. BREWER:  No.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can you undertake to obtain that information from IE, that is what types of financing are to be used for the construction phase of the project and then for the operation phase of the project?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, that is JTC1.12. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.12:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ABOUT HAT TYPES OF FUNDING WOULD BE COMING INTO PROJECTCO AT WHICH PHASES OF THE PROJECT


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, I just have to write this down.


Do you know if any of this information would be set out in the schedules to the project agreement which are going to be provided?  Or if you don't know at this point, that's an acceptable answer, too.


MR. BREWER:  Which information are you speaking to?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, all of the questions I have asked about, you know, the nature of the financing, how much is debt, how much is equity, what the return is.


Do you recall having seen any of this kind of information in the schedules, project agreement?


MR. BREWER:  I do not.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No?  Okay.  We did ask this in Staff IRs, whether PUC considered alternative forms of financing this project, for example obtaining long-term debt or a loan from the city that had been considered.  And what was the -- why was it ruled out?


MR. BREWER:  Do you remember what IR that was referring to?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I think Staff 31g -- well, that may not be the best reference, but it is the one that I have handy, so (f) and (g).  This is a very long IR response, if you look at it.


This is IR Staff 31.  And I think it is (f) -- in section (f) of that IR response indicates that you considered a number of -- it seems like you considered traditional methods of securing loans and hiring consultants, but you selected the method, you know, the ProjectCo option.


And my question, I guess, is, if you did consider sort of the traditional forms of financing, what -- you know, what kind of terms -- presumably you knocked on the door of your bank or made some kind of enquiries, and what kind of terms did you find were available in terms of, you know, how long of a loan you could get, what rate, any covenants?


MR. BREWER:  So when we looked at this project, one of the things that was key to us was de-risking the transaction on a go-forward basis.  That is one of the reasons we looked at the P3 model.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Mr. Brewer, could you speak up a bit.  Thanks.


MR. BREWER:  So when we looked at this project, we wanted to ensure that there wasn't going to be cost overruns, that the project as designed would work as designed, and we wanted to make sure that we were de-risking as much as we could.  That is why we chose this model.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I understand that, you know, some parts of it -- that may be a sensible approach.  But I am now just talking about the financing.


Financing a project through a P3, which involves private investors, is typically more expensive than funding that a municipality or a municipal utility could get at a bank on a long-term basis.  And that is just because as municipal or government debt you have preferential access, whereas private investors -- you know, de-risking doesn't mean there is no risk in the project; it just means it has been transferred somewhere, and there is a cost to that risk.


So if the ProjectCo and its constituent partners are taking on that risk there is a cost to it, and we will get to that later.  But my question is just, you know, whether enquiries were made with your bank or the city, you know, to the effect of, how much would it cost for you to borrow $20 million or -- for example, approximately $20 million to finance this project.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So our preferred method was to go with the one that we did.  Certainly if it had been something that we self-financed, there may be a less expensive interest rate, but the risk would have been greater, and that wasn't one that we wanted to contemplate.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just part of my question was, did you make enquiries and do you have any information as to what kind of term and terms of a loan you could have obtained?


MR. BREWER:  No.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Did you do that?


MR. BREWER:  No.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  You didn't.  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just follow up on that.


I am not sure that perhaps you understood the import of the question.  Normally a utility is required to look at their various options when they spend the ratepayers' money, and that sounds like you are saying -- and I am sure you didn't intend this -- we didn't bother to look at other options.  We decided this was the way to go, and we didn't care if there were cheaper ways to do it.


MR. BREWER:  No, I think what I was saying is that when we looked at all of the different factors that went into deciding what to go with, that this was the least expensive option that we were able to obtain with respect to risk transfer.


We do have -- we have the ability to access capital.  We know roughly what that costs.  We can compare against that.  We've got numerous loans with Infrastructure Ontario.  There have been recent discussions around the same thing.  But to take on a $30 million loan within distribution in this format as a straight loan wasn't something that we thought was the best option.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you did a comparison of the cost?


MR. BREWER:  We looked at the two options in their totality and decided that the option that we were going with was the best one for the ratepayer and for PUC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much more expensive it is than conventional financing?


MR. BREWER:  Sure.  Roughly.  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How much?


MR. BREWER:  It's -- conventional financing for us is between 3 and 4 percent.  And this is up around the regulated rate of return on a rate base, which would be in the just under 8 percent range, we believe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You think this is costing -- this money is costing you 8 percent?


MR. BREWER:  I think when you see the final numbers I think you will find that the equity piece is similar to the equity return from rate base, the regulated return.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the debt piece is higher?


MR. BREWER:  The debt piece may be higher than 4 percent because of the requirement to fix it, have a fixed rate for 30 years.  But it wouldn't be a lot higher.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not sure how you can get to 8 percent if you have 9 percent on 40 percent equity and 4 percent on debt.  You can't get to 8 percent, because your weighted average cost of capital is under 7.


MR. BREWER:  Yes, so if you could just -- I don't have the numbers in front of me, and rather try to do the math off the top of my head, I think it's part of what would be included in the financial information you already requested.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I guess -- we're not going to have another chance to come back and ask you what -- to what extent you did your homework.  And so I am trying to ask now, what homework have you done?  And, I mean, for what turns out to be 20-odd-million dollars of debt, presumably you did a comparison spreadsheet that said we could do this way, it costs us X; we could do it this way, it costs us Y.  The difference is what we're paying for this shift of risks.  That is the right way to do it, and I assume you did that, right?


MR. BREWER:  So we've done a little -- there is a little more to it than just the two factors, I think, that you look at.  There is a lot of other things that go into that decision.  And certainly we weighed that and we came up with what we thought was in the best interests of both the ratepayers and of PUC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't do a business case, right?


MR. BREWER:  Are you saying we didn't evaluate it as a business case?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BREWER:  We certainly looked at it.  I think that is what the financial models are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the financial model will show all of the options?


MR. BREWER:  I don't know if the financial model that is -- we're talking about with respect to the schedule shows all of the different options.  But in terms of a business case, there is a lot of other factors that went into this with respect to the de-risking of the transaction, with respect to the construction schedules.  A lot of those, the fixed-price piece upfront so we knew exactly what it was going to cost.  A lot of those factors were pretty critical in terms of the importance for us in securing a known number so that we didn't have this escalate.  All of those factored into the decision.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I just want to go back to, you said you compared, sorry, two options, if I heard correctly, in their totality.  What were the two options that you were comparing in their totality?  I assume one is the sort of SPV model that is being presented.  But the other one, was it just like the utility doing it all, managing everything?  Or was there some sort of hybrid combination?


MR. BREWER:  So what we looked at was the P3 model versus the traditional purchasing model.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So going by the P3 model, the one that is presented is one where the private partner's basically doing everything, and surely you are aware that there is other variations where you could have a private partner design, build, maintain, you know, with all of the guarantees and turnkey aspects.


But you could have obtained the -- the utility could have obtained the financing and retained ownership of the asset.  Was that an option that was considered?


MR. BREWER:  That particular option wasn't one we looked at.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  There's about ten variations on 
how -- the components of a P3 structure.  Were any others considered, other than the one that is presented, which is design, build, finance, operate, maintain -- what was the 6th one -- transfer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Except they changed it.  So the transfer is earlier now.


MS. GIRVAN:  Can I just ask a clarification question, because she asked you about owning the assets.


Were you going to own the assets?  That is what told me earlier because they're going to be in rate base, is that correct?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.  At the end of each year, the assets that are in-service will be transferred to the utility.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But you still have a 20-year contract with ProjectCo to make monthly payments -- 25 years, okay.  I will just park that for a second...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me follow up on what you just asked, though, because there is two parts to the P3 concept.


One part is that in the P3, you basically offshore the procurement of the assets and the management of the assets, and secondly, you offshore the financing of the assets.


And we've been talking about what alternatives you had to the financing that you are arranging.  But one thing that occurs to me is that since 2013, you've been in an exclusivity agreement with IE.


So how do you know that the prices of everything are reasonable prices and don't have -- and aren't more than you can get them on the market, if you haven't been allowed to go out to the market since 2013?


MR. BREWER:  We haven't, so I think, as I walked you through earlier on the amended letter of intent, the exclusivity period ended August 1st of 2016.  One of the ways that we validated whether the costs were reasonable, which I think is what your question is about, was that we had that study from Navigant that looked at the components and came forward with those prices were in fact reasonable.


I will pass it off to Mr. Bell to walk you through them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was on an earlier version of the promissory, though, right?  For example, the voltage control was done on the transformers, not the feeders, right?


MR. BREWER:  I will let Kevin walk you through it.


MR. BELL:  Basically I guess the effort we went through to try to review the project costs, the component costs.  So we started with the foundational work, that preliminary engineering work of Leidos in 2014, I think, actually; they provided the estimates.  Subsequent to that, we had -- there was two different Navigant reviews done.  One sort of on the overall business case and one on the costs.


In the cost analysis -- and I can do it at a high level or take you through the references but...


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I actually have some questions I can pick up right on that, because there is a further Navigant report that I was going to ask about next.


MR. BELL:  The third one, yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Maybe he can finish his answer first?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  He could.  It is not my question, but he could.


MR. VELLONE:  Go ahead.


MR. BELL:  So in the Navigant cost report where they reviewed the design of Leidos and the costs, which was with the original ICM application filing, they basically broke the project costs into components, the project into component costs, and commented on those benchmark prices of each of those components.


The effort that PUC went through subsequent to that was to look at those component prices against the current fixed price and with the revised scope and the components, does the number make sense.  I think I talked about that earlier.


So working from a total fixed price, essentially backwards trying to understand building up from the bottom with this many pieces, does the price appear reasonable.  That was really a big part of our focus.


And they came in at less than inflation, less than the risk concerns that Navigant had identified.  So basically the cost, the design that we -- the original work from Leidos reviewed seemed basically to support the project cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you have a table, or a spreadsheet, or something that shows how you built up that cost...


MR. BELL:  That was the appendix K to the application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Appendix K.


MR. BELL:  K, as in the letter.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that the ICM?


MR. VELLONE:  It is in appendix 11, and then appendix K to appendix 11.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you then -- this is your breakdown.  I saw this before.


Can you provide us -- and is this current prices, or is this from a couple of years ago, number one?


Number two, what I am going to ask you to do is I am going to ask you to give us this table with the source of each of the costs, if you can do that.


MR. BELL:  Okay.  So --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we need to make an undertaking?


MR. VELLONE:  He might be able to do it live.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would like to get a document that we can show the Board.


MR. BELL:  So just to confirm what you are asking for, basically as an example rather than going through them all.  So for a bus voltage regulator, which is $200,000, and then we went through an exercise of escalation from inflation and a review of the risk comments both from internal staff as well as Navigant's comments in their review of Leidos's work, we came up with a unit price.


The bus regulator as an example, if we went to the Navigant project cost report, which is D or E, cost is E.  If we went to the Navigant in the ICM application, page 16, 3.2.6...


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Which Navigant report is this?  There's two of them.


MR. BELL:  This is appendix E, the review of the costs, a review of project costs for smart grid projects, appendix E to the ICM application.


MR. VELLONE:  Is that what is on the screen?


MR. BELL:  Page 16.  I am on page 16.


MR. VELLONE:  Yes, page 16, 3.2.6.


MR. BELL:  The amount -- right in the second, third sentence, the $200,000 for device for that type of equipment appears reasonable.  And basically, what Navigant did is they provided that review on each of the components.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  So you took the number that Navigant gave you as reasonable after they said:  

"Navigant has limited experience with pad mount substation voltage regulators ..."


MR. BELL:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they guessed, well, it is twice as much as the normal cost, so that sounds okay.  And you used that instead of going out to the market to find out how much they cost?


MR. BELL:  We did not get market pricing for all of the components.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?  You are going to buy 44 of these?  You couldn't go to the manufacturer and say, hey, I want to buy 44.  Do I have to pay 9 million, or could I get them for less?


MR. BELL:  In this case, there were two.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought there were 44.  I don't have that table in front of me any more.


MR. BELL:  I guess -- like Leidos got the market pricing.  They provided all of that detail to Navigant.  So I mean their whole cost estimate went to Navigant basically, and they had access to it all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Navigant said we don't know anything about this, but it looks good.  And thought that was enough?


See, here's my concern.  Leidos was working for IE.  They were not working for you, right?  You didn't select them, you didn't I instruct them.  They just did the work for IE.

Then Leidos gave the information to Navigant, which I guess at the time was also working for IE, right?  And Navigant said, we don't know anything about this, but looks okay.  And you said we don't have to do any more investigation than that.  


And I am wondering why you said that and why you didn't do more investigation than simply take a bunch of numbers from Navigant.  You don't normally do that when you're spending money on capital assets, right?  Your normal capital plan, you go to suppliers and you try to get the best deal you can, right?


MR. BELL:  I guess if you are talking about the normal process of PUC doing engineering procurement construction?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BELL:  Yes.  That's how they would normally do it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Anyway, so I have asked for an undertaking to go through this and provide the source for each of these numbers, how you got to the number you got to.


MR. BELL:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you do that?


MR. BELL:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is JTC1.13. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.13:  TO PROVIDE THE SOURCES OF THE COSTS IN APPENDIX K


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So still on the Staff IR -- Staff 31 response, now looking at specifically subsection (e)(ii).  And it is page 26 of 197 of the IR responses, if that helps.  And it indicates -- the response indicates that the city of Sault Ste. Marie funded the Navigant second business case review."


And that is provided at Appendix 7 to the IRs.


So if you could turn up that document and take a look at page 1.  Do you have that in front of you?  No.  In a bit of a larger font, hopefully.


And looking at paragraph 2, I am not going to recite it all, but you want to read it and then I will ask some questions.


MR. VELLONE:  This is the paragraph beginning "with respect to ECo's --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  "With respect to ECo's proposal", ECo being the predecessor of IE.


MR. VELLONE:  Give the witnesses a second.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have seen this before, right?


MR. BELL:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So maybe just by way of background, what Navigant does in this report is look at three options for the project.  One being where PUC does it all, the traditional approach.  One being the ECo option, where costs are fully recovered from ratepayers.  And then there is a third option where costs are partially recovered from ratepayers.


And I just want to sort of point out some of Navigant's conclusions.  Now, this report, this is 2016, so this is later than the 2015 one.  And so in paragraph 2, Navigant is assessing this option, which sounds like the case that is being presented in the application, where the capital expenditures would be rate-based, and then there is going to be some operating and O&M expenditures later on.  I'll talk about that later.  And they say:

"Collectively these two costs components would be recoverable through PUC's revenue requirements but would result in a material increase in customer rates.  The remainder of ECo's proposed payment representing ECo's risk premium and financing costs would not be recoverable through PUC's revenue requirements but would have to be recovered by the shareholder."

So again going back to the monthly payments, and we haven't really -- don't have any information as to what these monthly payments consist of, you know, is it for, you know, the specific components and pieces of equipment?  Yes, that's part of it.  Is it for the design and engineering EPC contract?  That is part of it as well.


But those monthly payments are also supposed to compensate or allow ProjectCo to recover its -- a return on its debt and equity.  And Navigant has looked at that proposal and said, you know -- based on what I am 

reading -- again, I don't know what is in ProjectCo's and IE's actual documents -- but Navigant is concluding, you know, there is a cost in ECo's proposal.  There is a risk premium and there is financing costs.  And those can't be recovered through your revenue requirement from ratepayers.


So I am just wondering what -- if you have a comment on this aspect, if your understanding of ProjectCo's structure and financing and the monthly payments -- do the monthly payments provide for risk premium and the cost of financing that ProjectCo is getting.


MR. BREWER:  This is why in 2016 we refused to do the project.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Excuse me?


MR. BREWER:  Right.  So in 2016 this came before us, and this was absent NRCan funding, where NRCan was coming up with 12 out of the $34 million to do the project.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  We will get to that --


MR. BREWER:  And we -- so --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Go ahead.


MR. BREWER:  So that's why we said at this point given that there was going to be a material increase to customers' rates, and given that the shareholder was going to have to bear some of the cost, we turned the project down.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I get that part.  This option would involve -- there would have been some -- there's some missing money that shareholder would need to pay and the city wasn't doing that.


So then you applied for this NRCan funding.  Now the project seems feasible and acceptable.  But other questions -- I have other questions about how the NRCan funding is being applied.


And I guess maybe we will go back to talking about the structure of ProjectCo.  Who -- there is a schedule which will be produced that supposedly talks about ownership of ProjectCo.  Whether it is in draft or it provides any information we don't know.  But I will ask these questions, and I may have to get some undertakings for you to get that information from IE.


So what does PUC know about the ownership, like, who owns ProjectCo?  What percentage?  What holdings?  Do you have any of that information?


MR. BREWER:  We do not.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can you obtain that information from IE, specifically list who the owners are of ProjectCo, the shareholders, their respective shareholdings --


MR. VELLONE:  So I don't think we can.


MR. BREWER:  I think we mentioned in the undertakings that SSG Inc., which I think is what you're referring to as ProjectCo, is formed on financial close.


MR. VELLONE:  It doesn't exist yet.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But ahead of time somebody has got to be doing some thinking.  If somebody is putting in $10 million they're going to get 25 percent stake in the company.  Those kinds of --


MR. BREWER:  You are asking me to obtain ownership in something that doesn't exist.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, obviously there are discussions about what money is going into ProjectCo.  We've heard about these equity investors, sort of potentially there is some debt financing.  There is this NRCan funding, another topic.


So somehow people have got to figure out how they're going to divide up this pot, like, in terms of the monthly payments that are going to be coming out.  If I put in $10 million into this pot and that represents 30 percent investment, I expect a 30 percent, you know, that I get 30 percent of the pie.  Those kinds of conversations must have happened between IE and its proposed equity investors.  Or if they haven't, well, then we go back to Mr. Shepherd's concerns that there isn't any money on the table.


MR. BREWER:  I am trying to understand the relativity for us in this one.  So why would that make a difference if they invested 30 percent and got 20 percent of the payment?  Like, what difference does that make to PUC?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Because PUC could be owning 100 percent of it, but has chosen a different route where it is paying somebody else and the cost may be higher than it would have been if PUC owned it outright.  And we have to compare those costs, like what -- is this prudent?  If the premium on doing a -- taking a P3 approach is 20 percent, well, if that is what, you know, the risk is worth, maybe that is reasonable.  If not, you know, that's, you know, for argument.  But we need that information.  And we --


MR. BREWER:  How does the percentage that each partner has in the SSG Inc. which is yet to be formed help answer your question there?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, I am going to suggest to you in a short while that -- well, let me put it this way.  Is PUC an owner in ProjectCo?


MR. BREWER:  No.  And in fact, we have said in the undertaking or in the IRs that we do not have ownership --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is the city or any affiliate or related entity of PUC Distribution an owner in the project?


MR. BREWER:  So if I would walk you to Staff 31, special purpose vehicle will be owned by the investment platform, which is a combination of the two investors, and Infrastructure Energy.  To the best of my knowledge, that is the ownership.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, let's talk about the NRCan funds...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Before you go to that, can I just follow up on this?


So your basic pitch to the Board is please approve our spending 20-odd-million dollars of ratepayer money in order to have this wonderful project.


We've moved all of the risk out to this company that doesn't yet exist, and when it does exist, we don't know who will own it.  And we don't know what money it will have and we don't know how it is going to get the money, but we shifted the risk to them.


MR. BREWER:  Which risks are we talking about?  Are we talking about the ongoing viability of the design?  That is Black & Veatch.  Black & Veatch is the EPC contractor.  Black & Veatch is engineering it, procuring it, they're constructing it; they're standing behind that.


So I think the only risk that you are speaking of is the risk of whether the $32 million materializes, the $34 million materializes, right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  And also what are the benefits that you claim will happen.


MR. BREWER:  Again, the design, the construction the engineering would be what would dictate what the results are at the end of the day, if we're saying it is going to happen, and that is being stood behind by the EPC constructor.  So the risk is being transferred to Black & Veatch through ProjectCo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is it through ProjectCo?  Why aren't you contracting Black & Veatch to do the project?


MR. BREWER:  Because of the financing arrangement and the intent to do it in this way to try to spread the payments out over 25 years to ensure that the customers don't see a net bill increase.  That is our concern.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So the ownership.  So first of all, let's talk about the NRCan funds because I would like to know how that is allocated to ProjectCo.


My sort of take on it would be PUC applied for those funds and got those funds, and PUC is putting in that amount into ProjectCo.  PUC is a 25 percent owner of ProjectCo.


I understand that that is not what is happening.  The question is how is that?  How is that 25 percent of the project cost being flowed through ProjectCo?  My concern is if you are just lumping it in with everything else that is supposed to go in there, and then out of the monthly payments these three parties are getting their cut because they put money in supposedly.  But PUC is not getting anything even though it had obtained the funding from NRCan.


MR. BREWER:  In effect, it is working like contributed capital.  So you take a $34 million project, you apply $12 million in contributed capital and you have a $22 million net.


The financing parties are coming up with 22 million, not the 34.  The payments are based off the 22 million, not on the 34.


So that is the scenario that is being used.  And with respect to ProjectCo, at the end of each year, the assets are transferred in PUC and PUC has ownership on them with a financing arrangement.  So they make a finance payment, similar to the traditional type finance payments where you got a monthly amount that you paid for something that you purchased.


So the risk of ProjectCo in this, I mean, it is really for them -- they're agreeing to supply 22 million.  Who supplies which of the 22 doesn't really make a difference to PUC, as long as they're coming up with what they have agreed to.


We've got an arrangement on what the payments would be going forward which makes sense.  And when we crunch the numbers on it, we're able to do this project without a net increase to the average customer.  That is where we think this project is a real hit.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Hmm-hmm.  So...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me follow up on that.  So if it was not cost-effective when NRCan was providing no money, and Navigant said there are cheaper ways to finance this project.  Then once NRCan provided the money, why didn't you still then look at, well, there is only 22 million to finance now, but Navigant says there is cheaper ways to finance it; maybe we can find one.


MR. BREWER:  I think there is a couple of different reasons.  One is that when the window opened up for NRCan, you had to go to them with a solution.  You couldn't come up with we're going to start from here and do the 30 percent again and do it with somebody else, okay.  So understanding that a lot of these upfront costs have been borne by the developer in this case.


So for us to have gone from scratch would have meant we had to have started that engineering from scratch as well, okay, which would have been difficult to do in the time frame for an application.


And it would have been extremely difficult to then perform and get that completed by the window that NRCan had in place.


So the best option, given the limited time frame with NRCan, was to go with the one that was already in progress.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the alternative was not to cut out the developer and not repay them with a profit for their risk, but rather to go borrow $22 million and pay back that loan and just buy the project outright when it is built.  Why wouldn't you do that?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's cheaper.


MR. BREWER:  If we had gone down that road, we would have ended up starting from scratch.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?


MR. BREWER:  Because the project as presented to us is the one you see before you.


So we could have tried to get some tweaks to this particular project, but that would have been gone into a negotiation and it may not have been successful.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the developer would not have simply taken the money with a profit if you offered it?  If the developer has put in a couple of million dollars, you're right, they're at risk for that.  They need to get some sort of return on that.


So if you went to them and said you know what, we want to go to our bank and get this money and they will give it to us for 4 percent on a long term deal.  And so we don't want your financing.  Thank you very much for your work.  Show us how much you spent.  We will give you a premium on that; goodbye.  You think they wouldn't have said yes?  You didn't try, right?


MR. BREWER:  No, given the time frames that we were trying to hit, we needed to have something that was basically in development already and we didn't explore that option.


But I don't know that that would have accomplished a lot of the things we wanted, and I don't know, given what we think they have in terms of some of the development costs, I don't know that we would have wanted this project to bear all of the development costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it will in the end, right?


MR. BREWER:  No, I don't believe it will.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You think that the developer is simply eating the development costs?


MR. BREWER:  I don't have the specific numbers on what the developer has spent to date.  But it's a large number given the fact that this has been ongoing for six years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you have to make payments to them for 25 years.  So there're going to get it back, right?


MR. BREWER:  I think the majority of the payments are actually going to the financing companies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think the developer will lose money


MR. BREWER:  I think the developer is, given the stretch on this one, is probably not going to do very well on this project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  On that point, this is going back to the project agreement at appendix 13, section 2.1, sub (c).  In that subsection (c), there is some reference to an early works contract, which I have not been able to locate anywhere in the material filed, and then the definition document.


So can I get an undertaking to obtain that document?


MR. BREWER:  Sorry, can you point me to...


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Page 2 of the project agreement, section 2.1, sub (c) says:

"Upon commencement date occurring, any portion of the design work described in the early works contract shall be subject to the terms of this agreement and shall be deemed to be part of ProjectCo's design obligations pursuant to this agreement."

We haven't seen this early works contract.  So if you can undertake to provide that.


In the meantime, is there anything that PUC can tell us about that?


MR. BREWER:  One of the things that...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we make sure we get the undertaking?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, JTC1.14. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.14:  TO PROVIDE THE EARLY WORKS CONTRACT REFERRED TO IN THE PROJECT AGREEMENT AT APPENDIX 13, SECTION 2.1, SUB (C)

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it exist?


MR. BREWER:  To the extent we have something, we will be happy to provide it.  So what we had done was and you will see that in our Board approval, but the -- we had approved up to $400,000 of pre-engineering work that would be done, and that engineering work was confined to work that we knew that, regardless of whether the project went forward or not, that we would be able to use.  But the status of that, I will get something to you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you did have a plan for how you are going to spend that $400,000?


MR. BREWER:  It was an estimate that we gave to the Board in terms of the work that we had identified that could be done that would be relevant for PUC, whether we move forward or not.


I don't know if -- Claudio can speak to it a little bit more than I can.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a -- on the third-last page of the presentation last summer to the city, it says:

"Prior to OEB approval we will proceed with some engineering work to get the project underway."

What work was done and how much did it cost?  And is that related to the early works contract?


MR. BREWER:  That is the early works contract, and Mr. Stefano can walk you through it.


MR. STEFANO:  In the early works contract -- The early works contract that is referred to here is specific to evaluating distributed automation on our 34-and-a-half-kV subtransmission system that we believe will receive benefits on a go-forward basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is not part of the UDM project?


MR. STEFANO:  It is part of the UDM project as well.  It is a component of the UDM project.


MS. VLAHOS:  Sorry, can I ask a question?  Is this the same spending that is referenced in CCC 7 where you say that approximately $500,000 has already been spent on the project?  Is that the same --


MR. BELL:  CCC?


MS. VLAHOS:  CCC 7.


MR. BREWER:  I believe in that 535 there's about 230,000 ballpark that has been spent so far on the pre-engineering work.  So of that 535 to about 230,000.


MS. GIRVAN:  Can I ask you what the rest is in that amount?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.  The bulk of it is staff time and legals, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the staff time is not incremental then?  You didn't hire more staff?


MR. BREWER:  We didn't hire any more staff, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you capitalize any of that?


MR. BREWER:  It goes into a capital work in progress account, and it would be capitalized in the event that the project moved forward.  If the project doesn't move forward, then it ends up getting expensed, so that is why it is an expense to date.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So just one other point I want to get with respect to the Navigant study at Appendix 7.


MR. BREWER:  Sorry, if I could just -- on the previous one, VECC 24, it gives you the breakdown.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So the Navigant study that was sponsored by the city.  Now, looking at page 2 --


MS. GIRVAN:  Which Navigant report?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This is Appendix 7 to the --


MS. GIRVAN:  The third one?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, I see that.  That's Appendix 7.  That's the one dated May 4, 2016.  I am looking at page 2, in particular paragraph 2.


So the -- as we indicated, it seems Navigant report looked at a couple options and found some issues with the -- some parts of the ECo-funded options, namely the risk premium and the financing cost.


Then over here on page 2, second paragraph, Navigant states:

"Rather than dismiss ECo's proposal, Navigant recommends that the proponents explore alternative project options with ECo that might better fit within PUC's current regulatory framework and the shareholders' willingness to pay.  Ideally, these discussions will be undertaken on an open-book basis with ECo with a view to better understanding the various components underlying ECo's proposed fees, particularly the financing costs and risk premium/performance guarantee."

So just pausing there.  The suggestion to look at this as an open-book contract with ProjectCo, to see what all the components of the costs are, in particular the one that caused Navigant's concern, the financing and risk premium, did PUC follow up on this recommendation of Navigant?  And sit down with...


MR. BREWER:  So what PUC did was decided that they would not proceed with the project.  And so those discussions initially didn't occur.


Recently the project's gone through a number of different iterations with respect to these exact things.  And our understanding is the current one is different than the one that was proposed back in 2015-ish.  In 2015.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, I understand that there's been some project scope changes and you've got the NRCan funding.  But, you know, the concern that Navigant identified about the risk premium and the financing costs, now, given that PUC doesn't even know what those are, we need to find out what that is.


But what I am hearing is that after the NRCan funding happened and, you know, the project was rescoped, like, this was not a concern to PUC any more at all?  Namely, that, you know, ECo, now IE, cost may be a bit expensive, in terms of risk and financing costs.


MR. BREWER:  Just one second.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So there were a number of revisions to the project based on discussions with IE.  Part of it is what's reduced the project to where it is now is with respect to being a $22 million project when you take into account the NRCan funding from what was considerably more than that previously.  Part of that was the financing costs were relooked at.  Part of it was the scope was looked at.  Part of it was the analysis on the risk transfer and the risk premium.


All of those were -- the risk premium in particular was reduced, which is how we got the project down to what we thought was a reasonable cost.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So you had these discussions.  Do we have any documents about what was the risk premium and financing costs previously, and then what was discussed, and then what was agreed upon?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BELL:  Can I refer you to the Appendix K project cost summary.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry.  This is the ICM application.


MR. BELL:  The ICM application, yes, Appendix K and specifically page 8 of 10.


The lower chart at the bottom of the page titled SPV developer, IE regulatory financial legal costs.


These were the break out that we got from IE, in terms of the 2.4 and 2.388, so the total 4.793.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is out of $22 million?  Or what is this in relation to?


MR. BELL:  This is out of the full project.  So that was basically information...


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Out of $35 million costs for the whole project, the project management, is that IE, is that IE's -- is that how they're being paid, or can you give us some explanation of these amounts?


MR. SHEPHERD:  IE is going to get $4.793 million and out of that has to pay their expenses, is that right?


MR. BELL:  The portion right above that table titled SPV project management and legal, the bullet points of their costs, I guess.  So the project management, vendors, cash flows, change orders, so they're managing the project from that perspective.  All the regulatory and accounting and financing fees were basically what -- so that bullet list, I guess.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But this $4.8 million, that is what -- out of the $32 million cost of the project, 4.8 million is going to IE, right?


MR. BREWER:  A lot of that is going to accounting and legal and some of the other financing --


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're going to have some expenses, but they're going to get 4.8.  Then they're going to pay some expenses and what is left is theirs, right?


MR. BREWER:  I think that is the way it would work, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't know the breakdown of that?


MR. BELL:  Not beyond what is there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you -- you are committing to a $32 million project, but $5 million of the costs, you don't know what they are?  You just know generally what they are?  Because that is unusual, isn't it?


MR. BREWER:  That's why we had Navigant do a review of the project to determine the costs were reasonable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did Navigant review this?


MR. BREWER:  They reviewed the total project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did they review these costs that are going to IE, because what I see is Navigant saying these costs that are going to IE, you're not going to be able to recover from the customers.  Isn't that what they said in their report?


MR. BELL:  That is what they identified in the course of that.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am going to ask a couple of questions about the contribution agreement with NRCan and it is related to this because, again, there are certain restrictions on what the NRCan funding can be used for.


And we would just like to confirm that the NRCan funds are actually being used for NRCan eligible expenses.  Then there may be some questions about, well, how the rest is going to be funded.


So the NRCan contribution agreement, that is appendix 1 to the interrogatory responses, and under the interpretation section near the bottom, it defines eligible expenditures as being those set out in schedule B.


So flip forward to schedule B.  And do you see the chart there?  Okay.  Now, back, back.


So under number 1, the chart approved budget.  And then program NRCan contribution sets out the eligible expenditures.


So what kind of -- how do you see this at the NRCan funding, how does that fit -- can that be applied towards some of the amounts that are set out in your project cost document at Exhibit K that we talked about?


So like can it be used for project management or financing?  My reading is it can't and those funds would need to be separate.  Those funds just need to go to the actual, you know, equipment, products, the people that are putting the equipment in and -- you know, that sort of tangible costs.


MR. BELL:  I think in answer to your question, basically, yes, they can.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry?


MR. BELL:  Like you're saying can project management be capitalized?  I think the answer is yes, it can.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am not talking about whether it is capitalized or not, but the NRCan funding says specifically what it can be used for.


So like, for example, project financing, like financing costs.


MR. BREWER:  But you are delving into the vendor in effect.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  To the what?


MR. BREWER:  You're delving into the vendor's project management costs, rather than --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Vendor's?


MR. BREWER:  Like to ProjectCo's.  And so in this case, as the one being funded, we're paying a fixed price contract for a deliverable. And the entire deliverable is eligible.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We're not going -- I am not going to argue with you about contract interpretation.  But you are commingling funds.  NRCan funds specifically say what they can be used for, but you are proposing to just put them all into 1 bucket and then pay whatever needs to be paid, including IE's costs.  Is that what I understand?


MR. BREWER:  So we're buying something that costs X dollars.  If I go out and I buy a car and there was project management costs behind that car, I can still capitalize the entire amount of the car.


I think in this case, that is the analogy here, is that the entire car is the project.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  With respect, I don't want to get into argument, but, you know, a project of a special purpose vehicle is quite different from buying a car.  It is not a product.  It is made up of, you know, various components and you have certain funding that says it is supposed to be used for X, Y, Z and it can't be used for other things, you know, that we talked about.


MR. BREWER:  This agreement, the concept, the entire formula and the way this is being done has been presented to NRCan.


So maybe they don't agree with the interpretation you have.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In your application to NRCan, did you discuss the PUC structure?


MR. BELL:  The PUC structure?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  Let's turn up the application, which is appendix 3 to the interrogatory responses.  And particularly I am focussing on page 4.  There is a project summary, and about the fourth sentence from the bottom, it starts with "the SSG will be financed ..."


Do you see that sentence?  The project summary.  You have to scroll down a bit more.  Project summary.  About the fourth line from the bottom.

"The SSG will be financed under an innovative public-private partnership strategy that minimizes risk and lowers costs."

So it sounds like you've told in the project, in your application to NRCan, you said the P3 structure you are contemplating is actually lower cost.


But you don't provide any details as to, well, what are the actual financing costs or risk premiums that comes with this ProjectCo structure.  You don't get into that much detail in the application, right?


MR. BELL:  The application, it is here.  This is what detail it is.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But there isn't any detail about the ProjectCo, the structure --


MR. BELL:  Not in the application.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry?


MR. BELL:  So not in this application.  The NRCan due diligence phase had much of that structure.  I think the same org chart was provided.  I think we used the one we gave NRCan for one of the IRs.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, as part of that due diligence, I mean, did you have information?  Or did NRCan ask, well, what does this P3 consist of?  Who are the project partners?  How much are they contributing?  What are the terms?  What is the percentage rate-of-return they expect?  Did anybody ask those kinds of questions?


MR. BELL:  They asked a number of questions.  Some of your list, I recall.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is this in a written -- I am assuming it was.  Could you undertake to provide the questions that NRCan asked and that PUC -- and PUC's responses?


MR. VELLONE:  Relevance, please?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Diligence -- sorry?


MR. VELLONE:  Relevance, please?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, Mr. Brewer's position is that the NRCan funding is not restricted into how it can be used.  It --


MR. VELLONE:  You haven't shown me anything in this agreement that says --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Excuse me?


MR. VELLONE:  You haven't pointed to anything in this agreement that supports your proposition that it cannot be used as --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The agreement very clearly sets out in Schedule B what eligible expenditures are of the NRCan agreement that is at Appendix 1.  I am suggesting unless it is specifically stated here it can't be used for other things like project finance, to finance another potential investor or project partner, or to cover off risk, which is supposedly reduced by doing this P3, which is what the application states, that risk is reduced and there is a lower cost, but...


MR. VELLONE:  Listed eligible expenditures are salaries and benefits, overhead, professional scientific, travel, including meals, equipment and products and other expenses.  Am I reading the same list that you are?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It is.  And if you have a definitions document that explains what each of these eligible expenditure categories are, or maybe this is, you know, part of the further information that is provided through the, you know, NRCan process, I am happy to look at that, but I think that it is relevant and that these funds can only be used for certain purposes.


That means the balance of the cost is going to be paid by ratepayers.  So that balance that is going to be covered by ratepayers for things like risk premium and IE's financing costs, that is relevant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could get at this a different way, Ljuba.  How much is going to be paid to PUC Services during the construction phase?  Roughly.  We don't need an exact number, but just bigger than a bread box.  Is it 100,000, is it 100 million, is it somewhere in between?


MR. BREWER:  We may have answered it in an IR and we may have the specificity for it --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I have just a couple of more questions --


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're answering my question.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, sorry.  It's time for a break, I think.


MR. BREWER:  Ballpark, I think it's in the one and a half to 2 million range.


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, the reason I ask that is because your eligible expenditures on this list don't include salaries and benefits or overheads, and PUC Services are basically your people.


MR. BREWER:  PUC Services would be working for ProjectCo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're still your people.  If it goes around in a circle and comes back to your people, then there is a doubt as to whether that is recoverable.


MR. BREWER:  So the structure has been identified, and it was part of, you know, disclosure to NRCan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was the question that Board Staff was asking, is do you have some evidence that this payment around in a circle is approved by NRCan?  Can you use the NRCan money for that?  Do you have some evidence that you told them, yeah, we're going to give 2 million back to ourselves?


MR. BREWER:  We are not giving it back to ourselves.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you are giving it to ProjectCo, that then gives it back to your affiliate owned by the same company.  That sounds a lot like it is going around in a circle.


MR. BREWER:  But it isn't owned by the same company, but I understand that eventually it is owned by the city.  Eventually.  But I think the idea here is that there is certain jobs that only PUC Services --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But --


MR. BREWER:  -- can do, and that's what we have identified.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah --


MR. BREWER:  -- I don't believe there has been any lack of transparency with NRCan --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so --


MR. BREWER:  -- and it is not our understanding that there is any issue with the NRCan funding under this arrangement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you show us where you told NRCan that you were paying it to an affiliate?


MR. BREWER:  But we aren't paying it to an affiliate.  That is what I have tried to say.  We're paying it to ProjectCo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is paying it to an affiliate.


MR. BREWER:  We aren't paying it to an affiliate.  I just want clarity here --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you disclose that circle to NRCan?  Can you show us the question and answer that you disclosed it?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. VELLONE:  We can give that undertaking on that scoping.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is JTC1.15.

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.15:  TO PROVIDE THE REFERENCE TO THE DISCLOSURE TO NRCAN REGARDING PAYMENT TO AN AFFILIATE.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  How is everybody feeling in terms of energy levels?  Okay.  The court reporter is ready for a break.  Let's take 15 and come back at --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Five to 4:00?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Five to?  I grew up in a digital clock age.  Five to.  17 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:41 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:54 p.m.

MS. VLAHOS:  Okay, I think we are ready to continue.  Ljuba, if you want to ask your remaining questions?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So if we could go back to the project agreement document, and I just have a couple of questions on that and then I will be done.


So I am now looking at page 43, which deals with PUC events of default.  Again, this is the project agreement document, appendix 13.


I am not going to go into detail about each of the events of default, except that I note that there is a reference to a schedule in a couple of the subsections, namely subsections C and E -- sorry.


Let's just get that up on the screen first.  So go over to page 43 and 44.  Keep going.  Scroll down.  You want to get to section 13.1 and then 13.3.


So 13.1 talks about PUC events of default, and 13.3 is about ProjectCo's options in the event of a PUC event of default.


And scroll down a little further you will see in subsections C and E, there's a reference at the very end of the paragraph to a compensation agreement, which is schedule 9 to this project agreement, which we will be provided with in due course.


And I guess I am interested in does PUC have any information at this point as to what compensation on termination -- what that schedule contains?  Or is it just like a blank page at this point?


The reason I ask is I have a specific questions about it, and it is to compare what might be in the schedule to what was in the amended letter of intent.  So I can take you to that document and then you can tell me whether something like that is contemplated for the project agreement.


So if you look at appendix 11, which is the amended LOI, page 14, and the section 32, which is termination payment, that provides that the -- basically the project agreement provides that upon termination for any reason, PUC will pay ProjectCo a termination amount set forth in the schedule.  The termination amount be calculated at closing to cover any particular time, the unamortized cost of the UDM system, et cetera, et cetera, and compensation for the loss of the equity return to ProjectCo for the project.


So to me it appears that in the event of default in certain cases, at least the letter of intent contemplates that even if there is a failure to pay, this would trigger this kind of termination, ProjectCo would be entitled to be compensated basically for the expected profits for the duration of the agreement.


So, you know, if in year five for some reason the project agreement was terminated or PUC couldn't make the payments for whatever reason, then ProjectCo could be entitled to be compensated for another 20 years of loss of expected profits.  That is what the LOI says.


So my question is whether this kind of provision is being carried over into schedule 9 of the project agreement?


MR. BREWER:  So the discussions to date, which I will fill you in on, are based on -- there is two sort of distinct types of default.  If PUC chooses to terminate the contract without cause, then we would be required to make a payment for lost profits. If PUC terminated for cause, then we would not.


And there is, you know, 30 or 40 different variations thereof in between, which would be covered in the schedule when we forward it to you.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So those are going to be set out in the schedule to the agreement?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is that what you're saying?  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just follow up on that?  There is a bunch of formulae that have been blacked out in the letter of intent.


Is it those -- is that the formulae that are going to be used in the project agreement?  Is that the current expectation?


MR. BREWER:  So we're talking about schedule D?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BREWER:  That's the liquidated damages?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BREWER:  So this is basically the payments from ProjectCo to PUC if the project doesn't deliver.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BREWER:  And those are not yet finalized.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. BREWER:  What was initially put in the letter of intent was what has been blacked out because I think they look at that as proprietary.


But we would certainly have something that had sort of similar penalties, in terms of non-performance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  In the project agreement, they can also -- they can also terminate if they determine that you are in breach, et cetera.  And they don't have to pay you anything if they do that.


MR. BREWER:  I guess if they decided to terminate after the -- assuming the project has been built at that point because there really wouldn't be a PUC breach at that point, they could terminate  But PUC would have title to the assets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But they would sue you for all of the money that you owe them.


MR. BREWER:  Yes.  You know, you look at a traditional bank financing of arrangement, similar to things we looked at recently with Infrastructure Ontario-type loans, if we want to do a break because we've got -- decide to go with another lender, there's penalties involved.


It's not unusual, once they have committed capital for a period of time, that they get some sort of return on that capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there penalties built in here as well already?  Have you agreed on some penalties for the lenders?


MR. BREWER:  First of all, we are not making any arrangement with the lenders.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are.  You are signing an agreement with them.  You are signing an agreement with the lenders, right?  The lenders' remedies agreement.


MR. BREWER:  That is in an agreement we have with ProjectCo, right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is a schedule that you are required to sign with the lenders.


MR. BREWER:  Yes.  I haven't reviewed that one in detail, but I think that one is still under negotiation because a security piece is still being finalized.  But when I do have a chance to see it, then I would have more detail on it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are still going to have to pay the lenders.


MR. BREWER:  Again, you are speaking of something that might be in an agreement that I haven't reviewed in detail and that I can't speak to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are going to provide it to us.  Okay.  All right, thanks.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So my next question is still on the project agreement, page 48, section 16, which is about change of control.


So looking at 16.1, which sets out the limitations on assignment of the project by ProjectCo -- an assignment, transfer, otherwise disposed of.


In particular, I am looking at subsection C and there is two different dates.  One is the transfer restriction date which is one year after the service commencement date.


So if ProjectCo wanted to transfer its interest in the agreement, or in the, I guess, ProjectCo to be transferred or ownership to be transferred to another entity, so if it is done one year before this transfer restriction date it has to be with the written consent of PUC, but if it happens after that one-year date, it is with the written consent of PUC, which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.


So my question is, what -- why is there a need for this kind of proviso?  And I guess looking at it in the context from the regulator, if there was a transfer or sale of part of a utility, an electricity distribution system that is used to service customers, you would have to apply to the OEB.


So, like, wouldn't that be -- like, what would be a situation where PUC could not unreasonably withhold or delay, like if ProjectCo wanted to sell the company to, you know, a third party?  Like, is it not -- is it not the utility's prerogative to say that that is not -- you know, they don't have to -- it is within their discretion and their prerogative.  It is not -- the standard is not unreasonably withholding consent.


And then I would suggest, like, wouldn't there be an additional provision that -- and subject to any leave of the OEB as may be required, according to the act?  I wondered if you have any comments or views on that or from, you know, completely --


MR. VELLONE:  Well, I am going to take a shot at this --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- misunderstanding.


MR. VELLONE:  -- because this is a law question.  Maybe not directly to these guys.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.


MR. VELLONE:  So my first observation would be, at law contractual counter-parties have an obligation to act in good faith.  And if you unpack the case law and the obligation to act in good faith and you push it up against "given or withheld in PUC's discretion" or you push it up against "which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed", largely that obligation to act in good faith means, be reasonable in respect of your contractual dealings.


So those two qualifiers actually probably end up in the same place.  You have to be reasonable when you are looking at it.


The reasons why PUC would refuse an assignment of this agreement would largely depend on the ability of the new contractual counter-party to perform the remaining obligations under the agreement.


If it's prior to the transfer restriction date, which might be before it is actually even built, can the new contractual counter-party even build it?  Versus if it is after the transfer restriction date, it's been built, it is up and running, can the new contractual counter-party meet the ongoing obligations under the agreement with regards to maintenance activities?


So the assessment with regards to being reasonable and whether you withhold your consent changes across those two dates.  I think that is what this provision says.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And I understand that in ordinary commercial transactions that may be a perfectly appropriate standard.  But again, in the regulatory context where you're talking about utility assets and the regulator's criteria for approving merger acquisition amalgamation, you know, those kinds of transactions is not just, you know, reasonably -- reasonably consenting or, you know, one would not unreasonably withhold consent.  There is other factors and considerations, impacts on ratepayers and that, and I am suggesting that that is not sort of captured in this, and that according to this wording, ProjectCo can -- would be able to go and make a, you know, transaction that would --


MR. VELLONE:  Utility assets are held by the utility when they're put in service.  The utility assets are held by PUC Distribution, who is obliged, by law, pursuant to the OEB Act, to go to the OEB for MAADs approval if one of those occurred.


This is about an assignment of obligations under our contractual agreement with a third party.  It has nothing to --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.


MR. VELLONE:  Does that make sense?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It makes more sense, yes.  And that was a...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you clarify one thing about that?


MR. VELLONE:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said it might not be even be built when the transfer restriction date occurs, but isn't that one year after the service commencement date, which is, after it is built, when do the services commence under the contract, which means it must be built.  Right?


MR. VELLONE:  I read number 1 as saying anytime prior to the day, that is the transfer restriction date, which is a year after the service commencement date.


So even if it is before the service commencement date, that Subsection 1 applies.  Even if it is before it is built, Subsection 1 applies, because it is prior to the day that is one year later.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am asking about 2, which is "which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed", and that clearly can only be after construction has been completed and the project is in service, right?


MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  And what's the question?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you said it might not be.  So the transfer restriction date must be a year after completion and implementation, right, because -- by definition, right?


MR. VELLONE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then my second question is, after the transfer restriction date, is the only thing being provided by Project Company is the services?  And as that is defined?


MR. VELLONE:  And the financing, I think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The financing is already in place, though, right?  By that time, financing is all done.  It has to be, or else you couldn't have built it, right?  And so all that is left is the services, right?  I am wondering whether what this boils down to is the Project Company isn't doing anything any more anyway.  So when could you ever say no to somebody else stepping in and coming between you and PUC Services when all the money is going to them anyway?  Because Project Company isn't adding any more value at that point, they're just there.


MR. VELLONE:  Well, except the financing sits with them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, understood.  Understood.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What responsibilities?


MR. BREWER:  The insurance, the obligations that they have under the agreement.  The requirements under the design.  They would then have that to flow down to Black & Veatch, but it would be flowing through ProjectCo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In any case, the lender's not going to them do anything to get rid of the insurance or the -- or any of the engineering obligations.


MR. BREWER:  Agreed.  I don't see there is a lot of value in ProjectCo.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  My next question on change in control, it is section 16.2.  And that provides that no change in control would be permitted to occur, except -- and I am looking at subsection B -- "arising from any bona fide open-market transmission and any shares or other securities of ProjectCo effected on a recognized public stock exchange."


So is there any agreement or any discussion about possibly publicly listing ProjectCo on a stock exchange so its shares could be traded publicly?


MR. BREWER:  There has been no discussion.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No, so this...


MR. BREWER:  This is an example, I think, of pulling terms from another agreement.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.


MR. BREWER:  So I will highlight this one and hopefully it is not in the final version.


MR. SHEPHERD:  ProjectCo is intended to be a single-purpose entity, right?  And you are not going to agree to it doing any business except stand in between you and your project?


MR. BREWER:  It is a special-purpose vehicle, right, absolutely.  Its job is to build the project and to house the risk in terms of the risk transfer to the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the point is it can't go to another utility and say, well, we just did one for PUC Distribution.  We want to do one for you too now.


MR. BREWER:  No, it is particular to this project, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not likely going to be listed on the TSE; just guessing.


[Laughter]


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just a couple of more questions on one of the earlier Navigant reports from April 2015.  It is Appendix D.  Page 2.  And I promise, this is my last page.  Okay.  So page 2, the discussion is -- it is about the costs of business process change.  I am just trying to see where on the page this happens.  I guess I can't do it without pulling up my document.


So it is the second paragraph starting with "with regards to the" -- sorry, third paragraph, "with regards to design, construction, operations, handover costs, et cetera", and then the third sentence says, then they go on to say:

"With respect to the particular project aspects, Navigant considers that the costs allocated to the business process change should be reviewed when project costs are more fully completed.  A (sic) significant changes in software and business aspects for utilities are often underestimated."

And I guess my question is, just how has PUC accounted the costs of business process change?  For example, you have a 10 percent contingency which Navigant thought was too low, or do you not see that this is a potential exposure, in terms of future costs?


MR. SHEPHERD:  What page are you on, Ljuba?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This is page 2 on the screen, page 2 of the Navigant report, April 2015.  It is appendix D.


MR. BREWER:  I think it is certainly one of the things that we reviewed and we were comfortable with the estimates that we had.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where is that estimate?  I saw the cost for PUC.  But did you break out what are the business process changes you are going to have to deal with that are collateral to this project?  Because I didn't -- that breakdown that is in appendix K, right?


MR. BELL:  They're not broken down, I don't think, in a cost estimate sense for the list.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But they're included in that appendix K table, right, the PUC costs?


MR. BELL:  PUC cost directly attributable to the project?  If they're peripheral business processes changes, we wouldn't necessarily call them part of the project.


So I guess it sort of depends on where -- what the process change becomes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, that is exactly the question, though.


So if, for example, you have to rethink how you roll trucks, because now you have a partially self-healing system, and you have to look at well how many people do we need, and how urgent are some problems that used to be like desperate right away, and you have to go through that.  That could cost money.


Do you have a plan for that, and other examples like that?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BELL:  I guess it is a partial answer.  There will be known impact of -- let's call it a new piece of equipment that's going to come with a maintenance plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. BELL:  So, you know, those -- if that is a business process change, I guess it comes down to the definition of the term.  But there will be a maintenance plan required for stuff we don't do now, or equipment we don't have.


They will be part of the project coming with the new asset.  Here is the reclosure, here is the maintenance schedule.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't really talking about that.


MR. BELL:  The longer term, I think it is the evolution of the business process change is really an operating cost over time.


It is not really defined in the project.  I think if it is directly related to the assets directly during the project, but from a business process change, I am trying to think of examples.


I hate to speculate too much, but a cyber security policy change; I mean, that's not going to go on the project.  It would if go to that team and they will rewrite the policy.  So...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the question I am asking is, you have a proposed project that fundamentally alters your distribution infrastructure in ways that are very significant, right?


And that new system that you have -- and it's not new, but you know what I mean, right, sort of new -- will have to be run differently.


Do you have a plan for how you are going to run it differently?  What people do you need?  What expertise do you need?  What people don't you need any more?  That sort of thing.


MR. BELL:  Certainly we have identified, I guess, some key personnel skill areas that we know we are going to need.  That is built into the operating cost estimate.  We know there is some new people.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I saw that.


MR. BELL:  Certainly one of them is a management supervisor position really expecting somebody will have to run this system.  Like there really is going to be an owner and their job will be, over time, optimizing it, finding the efficiencies.  That is an operating cost going forward with that person's base salary position.


So it's not really part of the project cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is a more narrow view of my question than perhaps I was trying to get at.


I was trying to get at the sort of blue-sky thinking that you do when you make a fundamental change.  What could happen here, good and bad?


Have you gone through that exercise yet?  Or is it too early?


MR. BREWER:  So I think we have had some 30,000 foot view on it, the blue sky, which is we expect that this will help with predicting maintenance because we have better feedback.  So we think some of the maintenance costs will go down on other equipment, traditional equipment.  But we will see a corresponding increase in the amount of equipment we have, and therefore maintenance on those items.


So we tried to put some ballpark estimates in terms of what we think that does to our operating costs, which I think is where Kevin was going.  We also think it will help with things like identifying where the outages are where the faults happened, and therefore reduce the amount of time required for crews to fix or restore.


So there will be a corresponding savings with that, but there is going to be a learning curve in trying to get it figured out.


So I think there is some push-pulls and we have tried to come up with what we think is the reasonable numbers to put into the application, and that is what we did in table 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have a responding operating plan, sort of -- like once this is done, how does our operating plan change, some document that lays this out?  You don't have that?


MR. BELL:  No, we certainly don't have the new operating plan of the new system.


I think it is actually one of the deliverables in sort of the day-to-day sense because it will change day-to-day operations.


We certainly have recognized it in the sense of the control, system control operator role, this will be a substantial change than basically having a system that always could potentially be loop fed and control to make sure it maintains all the limits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You might need, for example, less CSRs because people can go to the website and find out where all of the outage is, right, and what's being done about them?  You might need more CSRs --


MR. BELL:  There is a long list of might haves, you're right.  But I don't think we quantified them.


MS. GIRVAN:  I have a quick follow-up question.  Some of the press around this particular project talked about creating jobs, I think there is something like 120 jobs, I recall something like that.  How does that fit?


MR. BREWER:  On this project?


MR. BREWER:  I don't think it was our estimate.  If it was, it was maybe the EDC or something coming up with some of the spin-offs from construction jobs related to a $30 million project.


MS. GIRVAN:  So that isn't your --


MR. BREWER:  I don't believe that is our number.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just a couple of questions on the Navigant report of June, 2015.  That is appendix E.


Looking at page 10 --


MR. BREWER:  Sorry, what appendix is that?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Appendix E to the ICM application.


MR. BREWER:  Okay.  Page 10?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  And the heading is "Analysis of project costs", and I am looking at, well, four lines down, and the sentence starting with "these costs".


So Navigant looked at the full life cycle costs of the project that was prepared by Leidos, and then they also note in the sentence:  

“These costs do not reflect costs associated with project financing, risk transfer or other services which will also be included in the monthly fee to PUC."

Again, this ties back to, I believe it was Exhibit K, where you are going to provide the source or reference for each of the cost components that are set out there.


I guess -- and now understanding that the sources are the Navigant reports, which exclude these items, has there been some other analysis -- is there some amount for those costs that Navigant hasn't looked at that can be provided in -- either as part of the Exhibit K productions?  So in particular project financing, risk transfer, and other services?


MR. BELL:  I think...


In Appendix 7, where they looked at the overall project, Navigant actually did analyze some of those costs you're talking about.


So in the charts on page 17 for one -- there may be others -- I see basically financing costs.  I see -- and then there's, on chart -- on page 590 or 16 there is the risk premium and financing costs.


So, I mean, some of those questions you are --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  But did you use those figures in your cost-benefit analysis?  Or did you just use the figures that Navigant looked at in 2015, which specifically did not include project financing and those other items?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So I believe the report that Kevin's -- or that Mr. Bell is talking about came subsequent to this one.  It was a city -- report that was done for the city that did analyze it.  However, absent from both of these is the NRCan funding.  So the contributed capital.


So I think when you look at the project, if it's a $34 million project that has $4 million embedded in terms of risk, risk premium, and then you've got $12 million in contributed capital, it's a pretty reasonable estimate for the ratepayer.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am not following, because it would be part of the discussion we were having earlier was that NRCan funding can't be used to offset risk premiums or other financing costs.  I understand it can be used for project management, and they're set out what the eligible costs are, and also the project costs are set out.


But --


MR. BREWER:  I think that was an assumption that you indicated that we took issue with in terms of what could or couldn't be covered.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  We will leave that for argument, but -- so in terms of where are those costs reflected?  Where do you take these, which you are now showing me from Appendix 7, and, you know, there's some figures here with respect to financing.  Where do we see those imported into PUC's project estimates and cost-benefit analysis?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BELL:  I think, if I understand you correctly, you are looking for where are these financing costs and risk premium costs brought into the project?  I guess they aren't directly.  They really are an embedded portion of the fixed-price contract.


So, I mean, again we're trying to break out that fixed-price contract again, right?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.


MR. BELL:  So, yeah, it's --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Which would have been -- if you did an open-book analysis, as the Navigant review recommended, perhaps those amounts would have been more transparent.


In any event, I am going to wrap it up, and I am going to ask Ms. Vlahos if she has any further questions on behalf of Staff.

Examination by Ms. Vlahos:

MS. VLAHOS:  I just have a few questions, which hopefully will be relatively straightforward.


If we can turn to Appendix 1, the contribution agreement, sections 3.3 and 3.4.  So at those references it says that -- so the proponent, so IP -- PUC Distribution, undertakes to receive approval from the OEB for the required rate adjustment by March 31st, 2019 and that Canada reserves the right to terminate this agreement upon 30 days' written notice in the event that the proponent has not complied with the above statement, also that the proponent shall reimburse the Minister in the amount of the contribution disbursed.


So I am assuming that PUC has not heard anything further with respect to that caveat?  Can you confirm that's --


MR. BREWER:  We have had discussions with NRCan with respect to the timing, and there was no indication of an issue.  I think we are actually in discussions with them on an amendment that would cover some of this.


MS. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Great.


MR. BREWER:  Clearly on April 1st we didn't get notice.


MS. VLAHOS:  Right.  So also, I am assuming, based on everything that's been said today about the importance of the NRCan funding, if by any chance and for any reason this funding is revoked, can you confirm if PUC Distribution would not be going through with the proposed project?


MR. BREWER:  So the NRCan funding is critical to us meeting our internal criteria of the no net bill increase.  So absent NRCan funding, we would not move forward with the project.


MS. VLAHOS:  Okay.  My next question --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow-up on that?  So the NRCan funding was for a project of 47 million.  And now it is a project of 32 million.  But they're still providing the same funding, right?


MR. BREWER:  So the ask for the project here and what the OEB ask is, is confined to the capital portion.  The NRCan portion covers some other criteria, including, I think, some things that maybe Mr. Bell can elaborate on, but some of the life-cycle costs are also included in it, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have a breakdown of that 47 million that includes -- that shows us the capital component that you are asking for from -- for approval from the Board and all of the other stuff?


MR. BELL:  I don't believe we filed any of the breakdown of that NRCan.  I think what we've brought is the application and the contribution agreement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- but you have a breakdown of that somewhere, right?  I mean, obviously NRCan would have to know that.  So can you provide it?


MR. VELLONE:  How are you going to use it?  I am just trying to understand relevance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so for example, if the NRCan funding is mostly for stuff that you are not asking for Board approval for, then the Board has to look at, well, it's not 22 million that's going into rate base.  It is a lot more than that.


So if it's pro rata, for example, it means that only two-thirds of the NRCan funding is applied to the capital.  And if that's the case, your contribution is for your operating costs later.  It is not for your capital costs now.  So let's see the breakdown.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  Certainly there were some estimates provided to NRCan, and we, you know, we will undertake to provide that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's not in the application that we have here, right?


MR. BREWER:  The numbers are in there.  The back-up to it, all of the specifics, are part of the future due-diligence submissions after the application was submitted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you will undertake to provide it?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's JTC1.16. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.16:  TO PROVIDE THE ESTIMATES PROVIDED TO NRCAN.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.


MS. VLAHOS:  So my next question, the reference is Staff 24 C.  And also Staff 23 A.  So PUC states that the Phase 1 benefits to customers will only be those related to the aged assets replaced, or new assets put into service, and this is stated in Staff 24c.


In response to Staff 23a, it says that the project schedule assumes completion of some of the make ready work in poles, underground high voltage cables, and associated civil works that will be in-service at the end of the year, so 2019.


So my questions here more so relate to OEB's ICM policy that must be met for approval.


Does PUC's base capital, that was approved as part of its 2018 cost of service application, not include dollars for the replacement of poles, cables, et cetera, that seem to be the same type of replacements that are happening under phase one?  If so, a general ballpark of how much.


And how is PUC distinguishing these replacements?  Like how are they discrete and distinguishable from the normal practice that PUC undertakes on a day-to-day basis.  So basically project versus program; how are you distinguishing what is being replaced?


MR. STEFANO:  I will attempt to address your question.


Basically, in terms of the difference between the SSG project and the DSP, we've got about 12,600 poles in our system, wood poles.  The SSG project accounts for about 90 poles to be replaced over a two-year time frame.


And the primary premise on that is that the size and class are inadequate, and so it is not related to asset condition at all.


So we will need to replace approximately 30 deteriorated poles annually to keep up with our program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  So you're going to replace 45 each year, this year and next year, right?  And you normally replace 30?


MR. STEFANO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The additional 15 is because of the UCM project.


MR. STEFANO:  No.  For clarification, the poles to be replaced as part of the SSG project are required due to inadequate size and class of poles.


The 30 that we need to replace are deteriorated only.  So there is no overlap.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 30 is regular, right?


MR. STEFANO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only thing you are putting in place this year in this project is 15 poles?


MR. STEFANO:  No.  We are putting in, in total over the two years, approximately 90 poles.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking about 2019.  Sorry.


MR. STEFANO:  2019?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STEFANO:  The objective is to attempt to do the full 90 in 2019, certainly subject to when we receive regulatory approval.  But that will be the objective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But of that 90, only 30 of them are incremental, right?


MR. STEFANO:  No.  The 30 are independent of the 90 that are required for the project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when I said 45 each year, that is wrong.  It is actually 75 each year, or it is actually what you hope is 120 this year.


MR. STEFANO:  Just for clarification, the 90 that I am referring to are required to accommodate reclosers and sectionalizers and switches for the SSG project.


And that is primarily because the size and class of pole is inadequate for that purpose.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I understand that.


MR. STEFANO:  The 30 deteriorated is totally independent of the 90 we're considering, so it is incremental.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are putting in bigger stronger poles because you are going to put reclosers on them?


MR. STEFANO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are doing that this year rather than next year why?


MR. STEFANO:  We are going to attempt to expedite any works that we can in 2019 in accordance to expedite the overall SSG project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you are not going to spend that money until you know the money is there, the project finance money is there, right?


MR. STEFANO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So all of these agreements have to be signed.  You have to have seen the colour of their money.  You have to know who the financiers are, all of that stuff, before you start spending money on 90 oversized poles, right?


MR. STEFANO:  That's entirely correct.  We will be proceeding only with our 30 deteriorated poles per year in our normal program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That 90 poles is the sum total of all the money you expect to spend this year on this project, or is there more?


MR. STEFANO:  We will endeavour to proceed with some of the civil works to accommodate the voltage regulators as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which civil works is that?


MR. STEFANO:  For example, we have to implement voltage regulators.  Some of them will be platform -- sorry, platform and/or pad-mounted regulators.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Pad-mounted regulators?  Sorry I am...


MR. STEFANO:  If we have an entirely underground system, we're going to implement pad-mount regulators rather than overhead voltage regulators.  They will physically be mounted on the ground.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the civil work is laying the concrete and stuff like that.


MR. STEFANO:  Conduit, concrete and putting on top of the pad, the voltage regulators on top of the pad.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Nothing of that will be spent until you know you have a go?


MR. BREWER:  We are not planning on moving forward until we have regulatory approval.  We believe the other pieces will be in place prior to regulatory approval.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that sounds to me -- you are in Sault Ste. Marie.  That sounds to me like if you don't have approval by September, you are spending nothing this year because you can't pour concrete in October in Sault Ste. Marie, to the best of my knowledge.  I could be wrong, but...


MR. STEFANO:  It is certainly dependent on weather, as you are indicating.  But we certainly expect to be pouring concrete in October.  November and December might be a little more questionable, but we believe that we're hopeful if we get approval by September, they will be able to proceed with both poles and civil works.


MS. GIRVAN:  I just had a quick follow-up.  You talked about you have poles you need to replace anyway then you're doing additional poles related to this project.  Why wasn't this project included in your DSP in the last case?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So we put in the DSP what we intended and knew we would move forward with.


This project we would not have moved forward with if we had not gotten the NRCan funding and, at the time that we were submitting the DSP, we had not been awarded the NRCan funding.  So we didn't put the project into the DSP as a result.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.


MS. VLAHOS:  My next question, the reference is Staff 24b.  So it states that phase 2 of this project is just a continuation of phase 1, but in time -- not the project itself, but in time.


So I guess my question here is kind of two parts.  Is PUC in essence requesting for early approval of phase 2? For example, it would seem that given -- like if the OEB says okay to Phase 1, but says no to Phase 2, you would be left with a -- in a position with a partly functioning system that is not supposed to do what it is supposed to do.


So I am just trying to wrap my head around the whole Phase 1 versus Phase 2.  The ICM policy is you come in for approval of one year when the assets go into service.


Can you just kind of talk me through that part of it?  I am assuming if Phase 1 is not approved, you won't be coming in next year for Phase 2.  That part I can get.  But what happens if the other thing comes true?  If Phase 1 is approved, but the Phase 2, the OEB says no.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So that is obviously a significant concern, which is why we have presented the entire project in its entirety.  I'm sorry.  I'm a soft speaker, my apologies.


So the reason we have presented the entire project in these documents is for the full understanding of the project, with the understanding that and certainly our hope that if Phase 1 is approved, because it is a timing thing more than it is in fact two phases of a project, that the second portion would be approved as well.  But certainly --


MS. VLAHOS:  Sorry, as part of this decision?


MR. BREWER:  As a second ICM next year.


MS. VLAHOS:  What type of evidence would you be bringing forward next year that would be different from kind of what we're seeing here?  Like what additional...


MR. VELLONE:  A hundred percent engineering would be complete.


MS. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. VELLONE:  Probably or pretty damn close to complete.


MS. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. VELLONE:  Probably, or pretty damn close to complete.  I think that is the material difference, is that the costs would be based on 100 percent engineering instead of 30 percent.


Other than that, they have tried as best they can to forecast all of the costs for both phases, including rate impacts for both phases, and including benefits associated with both phases to be completely transparent on the -- the consequences of approving Phase 1 down the road, and then the real difference in Phase 2 is you would be able to look at the changes in the costs between the 30 percent engineering and the 100 percent engineering.  That would be the difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you even Phase 1t if -- because you're still at risk.  With the 100 percent engineering the Board could say, well, now that we can see all of the details we're not going to approve this, and then you are stuck with it and the ratepayers are stuck with this year's spending.  This year's spending doesn't sound like it is so critical that you couldn't do it in the spring.  I am trying to understand.


MS. VLAHOS:  Just to follow up on what Jay is saying, so I guess my point is that there's -- I guess there is an inherent risk of any utility proceeding with a project during the IRM years, right?  You try to apply for ICM funding, and I get it.


However, there seems like there's some work that can be done or that can be included in rate base as part of your next cost-of-service application that is part of Phase 1 of the project.  Like, did PUC consider undertaking Phase 1 at its own risk and apply for ICM funding for Phase 2 of the project next year when I guess the smart grid functionalities are actually built into the system and the customers start receiving the benefits at that point in time?


MR. BREWER:  So one issue is, is that one of the conditions in the NRCan funding is that there be OEB approval.  So I am not sure how we would meet that condition and access the 12 million from NRCan if we spent the first year money.


MS. VLAHOS:  Was the NRCan money conditional on phasing the project, then?  Because you -- the deadline is March 2020, 2021?  Am I...


MR. BREWER:  So when we speak of phases, the phases are really for the purposes of ICM applications, the timing.  It is not really that there is a Phase 1 and a Phase 2.  It is really one sort of extended time frame.  It is just for the purposes of the application here.  As it mentions in the response in 24B it says Phase 2 is just a continuation of the project in time and not function.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right in understanding, Mr. Brewer, that the application this year is sort of to get the Board to give you a soft approval, if you like, because they're only approving a bit, because you're going to have to spend a lot of money on engineering, and nobody wants to spend that money unless you have a pretty good idea the OEB is going to say yes.  Is that fair?


MR. BREWER:  I think that is fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me put the other foot down on that.  So if the Board is considering this year's ICM application, they shouldn't really approve it unless they're pretty confident that the Board is going to approve it next year too?  Fair?


MR. BREWER:  I think if there was significant doubt whether Phase 2 would be approved, then we wouldn't want you to approve Phase 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. VLAHOS:  My next question.  Staff 34.  So in the answers to Part A, B, and C, PUC notes that there was a thorough process undertaken by IE to select the EPC contract -- sorry, to select the EPC partner for the project and that IE considered two other North American engineering firms and they had similar EPC qualification.


PUC then goes on to state that the EPC proposals were made by the three engineering firms directly to IE and not to PUC Distribution.


My question is, did PUC review the selection process undertaken prior to IE making its selection?


MR. BREWER:  I don't have the specifics on that.  I think the answer that we gave is probably the information that we currently have, which is there was three evaluated and that we had set some criteria with respect to the size of an EPC contractor because of the risk transfer.


So I think the selection of Black & Veatch was supported, but I wasn't privy to the discussions prior, so --


MS. VLAHOS:  So you set out an initial selection criteria but didn't actually review the selection -- the process undertaken by IE to select them?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.


MS. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to find out details of the process, the thorough process undertaken by IE to select the EPC partner?


MR. BREWER:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  JTC1.17.  

UNDERTAKING NO. JTC1.17:  TO PROVIDE OUT DETAILS OF THE PROCESS UNDERTAKEN BY IE TO SELECT THE EPC PARTNER.


MS. VLAHOS:  My next question is -- Staff 55 is the reference.  Basically, this question asked whether PUC solicited feedback from customers on the smart grid project specifically.


When I looked back at the customer engagement as part of your last rebasing application in 2018 and then the response to this question, which basically indicated that the customer engagement has -- it had a number of specific areas and results that kind of shaped and supported the direction of this project.


My question is, was any customer engagement done specifically about these smart grid projects?  So were customers told that this is what is being built in your community, and what it is supposed to accomplish, and are you willing to pay for this to have it, as opposed to in the more general form of customer engagement?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  So I don't think we did a specific engagement on the smart grid project, but we asked the relevant questions that would drive the decision, which primarily are, are you willing to pay significant amounts for liability?  The answer was no.


MR. BELL:  Well, the -- I think you are familiar with the customer engagement.  You mentioned the section in the cost of service.


I think the primary information arrived from there, but I mentioned shaped the direction, was sort of the bill of reliability, the communication.


The direct communication about smart grid, I think it's been an ongoing -- I guess I would describe it more as an information, not necessarily in the context of engagement, about the project throughout the four or five years of presentations at city council.


I mean, one of the nice parts of a small community is basically is council is televised, actually gets a fairly high viewership, so it is an opportunity to communicate with the community at large about the project.


The specific project itself, never through an engagement-type process, to answer that question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you went to council last summer.  And now you have changed the project since then.  And it is -- at least fairly significantly.  And you haven't gone out to the customers to say, by the way, we want to start charging you more because we hope you are going to get benefits later.  You haven't said that, right?  Is that okay with you?


MR. BREWER:  So if I understand your question, you are asking if we have gone since July, and the answer is we haven't.  But I would say that the project itself hasn't changed since July.  It is the same project that was presented to council, in terms of the project scope.


The only thing that has changed is we had an estimate if you look at that presentation of an approximate amount of funding, and as I had indicated earlier, council required that it be greater than 9 million, and we hit almost 12.


So I don't know that the project has changed.  I think certainly some of the financing was clarified.  So what we basically have heard is that people want us to keep our rates low.  They want increased reliability and they want better communication.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't you just say they don't really want --


MR. BREWER:  They want increased reliability.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They only want it if it's free.


MR. BREWER:  They don't want to pay a lot for it.


MR. BREWER:  And fair enough.  That's what our engagement has been -- our theme has been keep the rates low, we want reliability and we want better communication.


So that is why we moved forward with this project because it got to the point where we weren't increasing their overall bill, okay.  We were increasing communication significantly and we were increasing reliability in a major way.


So we think we have hit those buckets that they were really asking for us to meet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you at any time go to your customers and say we want to reduce the voltage at which we deliver electricity, because we think we can do it in a way that doesn't hurt you, but will save you volume?


So it will save you on your bill.  But we want you to start paying for that now, that cost of $22 million now.  Did you ever say that to them?


MR. BREWER:  Not in those words, we didn't.  But we did go in front of --


MR. SHEPHARD:  I didn't suggest exactly those words.


MR. BREWER:  But we certainly talked about going in front of -- we talked about what the scope was and how it worked, and I think you can see that from the presentation we gave.


We played -- there's a couple of YouTube videos, I think, that are referenced in that presentation that are really indicative of how it works.  So we tried to get that out as well, and tried to describe how the system would work for them.  So I think we did try to do a lot of that, as much as we could.


The mechanism for how we recover through rates, you know, I think what we're looking for is we are trying to do the right thing for the customer at the end of the day, and we think we have done that.


Yes, because of the way the rates work there is some small amount that comes up front and the benefit comes a little bit later.  But we think it's overall, it is a pretty good project for them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, all of the costs comes up front, right?  The customers are on the hook up front for all of the costs of the project before they start getting any benefits, right?


MR. BREWER:  I think you will see the majority of costs incurred by the ratepayer are at the same time as they receive the benefit because they pay this out over, you know, in perpetuity in effect and they get the benefit in perpetuity once the project is complete.


So for the first 20 months or so, there is a lag.  But after that, I think they're well matched.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yeah, I wasn't so much saying that from a cash flow point of view it is so terrible.  But once you have spent the money, you expect to collect it all from the ratepayers whether they get the benefits or not, right?


MR. BREWER:  Well, they will get the benefits and they will be able to offset their bills as a result of getting the benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. VLAHOS:  We have a hard stop at five.  So one more question.  The reference is the amendment to the letter of intent, so that is December of 2015.  So on the cover page here, it is noted that a team was assembled by PUC to assess the benefits of the project, and that a socio-economic benefit assessment would be undertaken by the team with community stakeholders on or before March 4th, 2016.


My question is:  Can you provide me with kind of a short summary of what the outcome of that assessment was, or if there's any reports that can be provided from this undertaking.


MR. BREWER:  So that is the appendix 7, the Navigant Community Case Review.


MS. VLAHOS:  Okay, that's part of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that is number two.  What about number one?  Number 2 is Navigant report for Sault Ste. Marie.  Number one is the socio-economic study by the Economic Development Corporation.  I don't think that is on the record yet, or at least I haven't seen it.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BREWER:  I think that is what we're looking at as the same document.  It was done in conjunction with this one.  We are not aware of any other document that was done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Navigant did the socio-economic benefits for the city of Sault Ste. Marie?


MR. BREWER:  Navigant did the Navigant community microgrid business case review report, which is in appendix 7, and provided that through the Sault Ste. Marie Innovation Centre, so on behalf of the city or city's agencies.  So that was done independent of PUC or IE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. VLAHOS:  So I guess in that same cover letter, it says that PUC commissioned a third party review.


So would that be the Navigant report?


MR. BREWER:  That's correct.


MS. VLAHOS:  So the first part, I guess, of the question that I was asking was that PUC assembled a team for yourselves to assess the socio-economic benefit.  You were supposed to do that with a team of community stakeholders.


Do you recall if that was completed?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BELL:  My colleague helped refresh my memory.  There was a study recommend team, I think is what the team called it.  It comprised members from EDC Innovation Centre of the city and the PUC.


They reviewed the project and that led to the recommendation to do this Navigant report.  At that point, PUC basically wasn't proceeding with the project.  And so our proposal to the city is basically we don't see a project here.  We are not prepared to go ahead.  From the city's perspective, they commissioned this study to look at a larger value.  I know there were reports to council, but I don't recall dates.  I can try to find those from the CAO.


So the report was basically -- that's where this report came back and recommended that we go back and talk to Navigant, do some things, shape the pricing, shape the financing, which is a lot of what was undertaken later, in terms of changing the term, that kind of thing.


So that was where that study, review, third party review, what that team was basically.  It was just assigned parties, how do we do this?  How do we approach this and where do we find funding for it because PUC was not prepared to put any more funding into it, and that is where the city basically came forward with this group to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did the study recommend team have a field report?


MR. BELL:  I don't recall.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask this a different way.  Can you please undertake to provide any report of the Study Recommend Team, and any reports from the CAO at that time.  And if you are asking about relevance, John --


MR. VELLONE:  No, no, I am actually going to narrow the scope because the CAO probably did a lot of reports.  I just want to be specific.  This is in relation to socio-economic benefit associated with this project?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  It is actually the -- what I am looking for is the report that says no, don't do it.


And where I am going with this is that report will identify the reasons why it wasn't a good idea.  And I wanted to then go back through that and see whether you have covered them all off.


MR. VELLONE:  You are looking for a PUC...


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  CAO will have done it.


MR. BREWER:  I don't think from their end they ever said no.  I think it was the PUC that said it wasn't in the interests of the ratepayer because there was a net cost.  So I don't think report would say what it is that you are alluding to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Somebody did an analysis that said here's the reasons why we shouldn't go ahead with this.


MR. BREWER:  So the analysis that was done was there was a net cost to the ratepayer.  And we weren't going to proceed on that basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is nothing to be give us?


MR. BREWER:  We can undertake to deliver what you have indicated.  But I am not convinced there is something along the lines of what you've indicated there.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  JTC1.18.  Just to clarify, it's to provide any reports of the Study Review Team and any reports to council, CAO?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Reports of the CAO, whether to council or committees or whoever.  If it is a whole long list, then just give us the list and tell us these are the ones that you were suggesting.  I think we are done.

UNDERTAKING JTC1.18:  TO PROVIDE ANY REPORTS OF THE STUDY REVIEW TEAM AND ANY REPORTS TO COUNCIL, CAO

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  We are adjourned until tomorrow.  Thank you everyone.

--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 5:00 p.m.
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